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About The First MicroFinance Bank, Afghanistan

About Aga Khan Agency for Microfinance

The First MicroFinance Bank, Afghanistan (FMFB-A) started operations in 2004 and is part of the Aga 
Khan Agency for Microfinance (AKAM), which has financial institutions operating in over 15 countries 
throughout the developing world. It is affiliated with the Aga Khan Development Network (AKDN), 
a group of nine development agencies working in health, education, culture and rural economic 
development primarily in Asia and Africa. 

We provide credit and deposit products to a wide range of clients including micro, small and medium 
enterprises along with commercial banking, international and domestic remittance services. Our 
credit activities focus on micro enterprises, small businesses and the creation of productive sources of 
income and employment. Our primary objective in Afghanistan is to contribute to poverty alleviation 
and economic development through the provision of sustainable financial services to the poor and 
underserved.

Since 2016, we are a member of the Global Alliance for Banking on Values (GABV) – an independent 
network of banks using finance to deliver sustainable economic, social and environmental development. 
Our values-based banking agenda focuses on providing affordable financial services that promote 
entrepreneurship, agriculture, incremental housing and clean energy in Afghanistan.

The Aga Khan Development Network (AKDN) is a group of development agencies with mandates that 
include the environment, health, education, architecture, culture, microfinance, rural development, 
disaster reduction, the promotion of private-sector enterprise, and the revitalization of historic cities. 
AKDN agencies conduct their programs without regard to faith, origin or gender. For more than 60 years, 
various agencies of the AKDN have offered microfinance services through integrated development 
programs and self-standing microfinance institutions. Today, these programs have been brought 
together under the Aga Khan Agency for Microfinance (AKAM).

AKAM draws on over 60 years of experience of the AKDN in the delivery of microfinance products 
and services through integrated development programs and self-standing microfinance institutions. 
It was established in 2005 as a non-profit Swiss foundation by His Highness the Aga Khan to formalize 
microfinance initiatives within AKDN and transform these initiatives into sustainable, regulated financial 
institutions. Over the last ten years, AKAM portfolio and client outreach has risen by over 30 percent 
annually. Over 3 million loans worth $2 billion have been disbursed. In addition, its savings and deposits 
have grown by more than 35 percent annually. 
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Outreach

Our priority is to maximize financial outreach to low-income and vulnerable populations across both urban and rural 
areas of Afghanistan, with a particular focus on women.

Sustainability
We strive to achieve consistent operational and financial sustainability and moderate profits in order to finance 
expansion of our service offering, geographic coverage and build our customer base.

Excellence
We continuously seek to develop, implement and improve policies, procedures and systems, drawing from 
international best practices, sector expertise and the experience of our management team.

Synergy

We actively collaborate and share knowledge with other AKAM-affiliated entities in order to achieve regional and 
global consistency in the delivery of financial services.

Responsibility
We will meet international environmental and safety standards and social obligations, including avoiding the 
funding of child and bonded labor, preventing the use of our services for money laundering, terrorism and drug 
trade.

Our Vision

Our Mission

To be recognized as the leading microfinance services provider in Afghanistan contributing to poverty 
alleviation and economic development through the provision of sustainable financial services primarily 
targeting at the micro and small businesses and households

To reduce poverty, diminish the vulnerability of poor populations and alleviate economic and social 
exclusion. It aims to help people become self-reliant and eventually gain the skills needed to graduate 
into the mainstream financial markets. At the same time the Bank has to remain financially sustainable.
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We Are Innovative
We are forward thinking and blaze trail by embracing ideas that challenge conventional views and provide our 
people the chance to turn ideas into reality.

We Are Client-Centric
At FMFB-A, the client comes first. We strive to exceed customer expectations and contribute to a better ‘quality of 
life’ by understanding and serving their needs in the best possible way.

We Have a Social Mission
We believe that our responsibility extends beyond our core business and are committed to delivering financial 
solutions that enable positive social impact.

We Always Do the ‘Right’ Thing
We are honest and accountable in everything we do, maintain the highest possible ethical standards and foster 
trust through transparency, open communication and feedback.

We Value Meritocracy
All aspects of FMFB-A employment including our decisions to hire, promote, discipline, or discharge, are purely 
based on merit, competence, and performance.

Our Principles
FMFB-A is a proud member of the Global Alliance for Banking on Values (GABV), an independent network 
of banks using finance to deliver sustainable social, environmental and economic development. The 
Alliance’s 6 Principles of Sustainable Banking define the fundamental pillars of Values Based Banking 
lying at the heart of our business model and strategy.

Triple Bottom Line Approach
Our focus is simultaneously on “People, Planet and Prosperity”. Our strategic initiatives, products and services are 
designed and developed to meet the needs of people and safeguard the environment.

Grounded in Communities
We serve the communities in which we work. We meet the financial needs of our geographic and sector-based 
communities by financing sustainable enterprise in productive economies.

Long-term Relationships with Clients
We establish strong, long-term relationships with our clients and are directly involved in understanding and 
analyzing their economic activities and assisting them to become more sustainable themselves.

Resilience
We adopt a long-term perspective to make sure we can maintain our operations and be resilient in the face of 
external disruptions.

Transparency
We maintain a high degree of transparency and inclusiveness in governance and reporting.

Values-based Culture
We seek to embed these principles in our culture so that they are routinely used in decision-making at all levels.

Our Values
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Jeffrey Brampton Mundy, Chairman 

Brampton Mundy is the former CEO of FMFB-Tajikistan and has more 
than 30 years of experience in various divisions of HSBC Bank in Europe, 
Asia and Middle East. During the recent years (1997-2004) he worked 
as Chairman of the Management Board of HSBC Bank in Kazakhstan, 
and, consequently, as Regional Director of HSBC Bank in Eastern India. 
Brampton holds a Bachelor of Law Degree from Oxford University and a 
Masters of International Law from the University of London.

Jesse Culain Fripp, Member

Jesse Fripp is the General Manager of the Aga Khan Agency for 
Microfinance, based in Geneva, representing the founding shareholder in 
FMFB-A. He has nearly 25 years of international experience in strategic 
leadership and governance, inclusive finance delivery, digital finance 
systems, capital strategy, and organizational development. Mr. Fripp 
has worked extensively in business operations, including strategic and 
governance oversight of an enterprise group asset base in excess of 
600$ million and over 5,000 employees, and has executive leadership 
experience in leading enterprises and institutions in the area of inclusive 
finance and the inclusive economy worldwide. He has provided policy 
advice and technical guidance to public and private sector institutions 
including the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, the State Bank of Pakistan, 
the Afghanistan Ministry of Rural Reconstruction & Development (MRRD), 
the Microfinance Investment Support Facility for Afghanistan (MISFA), the 
Global Agriculture and Food Security Program (World Bank), the Office of 
the Deputy Prime Minister of Ethiopia, and numerous others.

Our Board of Directors
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George David Woods, Member   

David has extensive experience in financial and non-financial boards.  He 
is a director of NZ Green Investment Finance and of Whai Rawa Fund Ltd, 
a trustee of The Gift Trust, former Chair of the Impact Enterprise Fund, 
and Deputy Chair of the NZ National Advisory Board on Impact Investing.  
He also sits on two overseas boards for the Aga Khan Foundation as 
an independent director, First Microfinance Bank Afghanistan, and First 
Microfinance Company Egypt.  

Olaf Zymelka, Member  

Olaf Zymelka joined KfW in 2001 and has held several positions with 
KfW Entwicklungsbank. Since early 2017 he has been the Director 
for Eastern Europe, Caucasus and Central Asia. He is responsible for 
KfW’s development and promotional activities in this region, managing 
financial cooperation programs and projects in the sectors energy and 
energy efficiency, financial sector development, municipal infrastructure, 
environment protection and health sector development. Prior to this 
position, he was Director for Afghanistan and Pakistan (2014-17) and 
Deputy Director for the MENA Region (2013-14). From 2004 to 2012 he 
was engaged in several positions for Western Balkans, Turkey and Eastern 
Europe.
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Our Management Team

Frank van der Poll, CEO 

Frank van der Poll is the CEO for The First MicroFinance Bank, Afghanistan. 
Following a successful career in the IT sector where Frank was recognized 
for leading strategic initiatives, and incubating new disruptive business 
models, he switched to Banking. Since that time he has built a wealth and 
breadth of experience that he calls upon in providing leadership in the 
financial services industry. Under Frank’s leadership, Maduro Curiels Bank 
became the largest Business banking business across the West Indies. At 
Banque du Populair du Rwanda, he developed and led the ‘Micro Finance 
Initiative’ and turned around a loss making business unit into a thriving 
value stream. At Standard Chartered Bank, Botswana, Frank harnessed his 
business experience and people management skills to bring a practical, 
proven perspective to the Southern Africa Business Cluster that resulted 
in ramping up its bottom-line curve from the lowest ranking to the # 1 
position. Prior to joining FMFB-A, he founded BFC, which became the 
leading Merger & Acquisition Firm in Southern Africa and was appointed 
as partner of Choice for M&A’s by BDO & Mazars. Following the successful 
sale of his business, he returned to Banking to lead FMFB in Afghanistan. 
Frank earned his MBA with honors from the Hogeschool Haarlem, Holland. 
He graduated from Kennemer Institute with a BS in Economy and Law. A 
Dutch native, he speaks fluent Dutch, English, German and French.

Faburama Ceesay, CFO

Faburama Ceesay has been with FMFB-A since October 2014. He holds 
a Bachelors degree in International Development Studies from St. Mary’s 
University in Halifax, Canada. He is a member of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants in UK since 2006. He has a rich experience 
of over fourteen years in financial management. Prior to joining FMFB-A as 
CFO, he has worked in Standard Chartered Bank Gambia Ltd as Financial 
Controller and Standard Chartered Bank Kabul as Chief Financial Officer 
from 2010 to 2012. He has also worked in Guaranty Trust Bank Gambia Ltd 
as Head of Finance and Risk Management from 2004 to 2005.
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Khurram Sikander, Chief Internal Auditor 

Khurram Sikander joined FMFB-A in 2017 as Chief Internal Auditor. He 
has previously worked in Internal Audit, Risk and Compliance with The 
First MicroFinance Bank-Pakistan. Before Joining FMFB-A, Mr Sikander 
has worked with Afghanistan International Bank Kabul for six years in 
the capacity of Head of Internal Audit. He has also served as a director 
in one of the AKDN institutions and currently serving as Chairman of the 
Audit Committee of one the AKDN Entity. Mr Sikander is a member of the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants-UK and is also pursuing 
Certified Public Accountant qualification from Ontario, Canada.

Ziauddin Haidari, Head of Operations 

Ziauddin Haidari is a banking professional with hands on experience of 
banking operations and treasury. He has been with The First MicroFinance 
Bank Afghanistan since Oct,2010 in various positions in operations and 
Treasury. He has been instrumental member of management in growing 
mainstream revenues for the bank after joining FMFB-A. He holds a 
master degree in accounting and finance from The University of Lahore 
and several certifications in banking and treasury management. Prior to 
FMFB-Afghanistan he has also worked with FMFB-Pakistan for few years 
and has nearly 10 years of experience in banking, his core competencies 
include trading, liquidity management, investment portfolio management 
& management of branch banking operations.

Sughra Amiry, Company Secretary 

Sughra Amiry is a graduate of Asian University for Women and has an 
MBA from American University of Afghanistan. She started her career with 
FMFB-A as Executive Assistant in 2017 and was later promoted as Secretary 
to the Board of Supervisors due to her outstanding performance. She has 
completed a fellowship program with a governmental organization. She 
has also been a university lecturer and is honored to share her knowledge 
going forward. 
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Fareed Ashraf Chaudhry, Head of Business 
Strategy and Marketing 

Fareed Ashraf Chaudhry is a microfinance/consumer banking professional 
with over 15 years of experience in leading business initiatives and top-
line growth at Pakistan’s leading banks including Standard Chartered 
Bank, UBL and Allied Bank. Prior to FMFB-Afghanistan, Fareed was leading 
the product development and marketing function at Pakistan’s largest 
microfinance bank. At Khushhali Bank, Fareed spearheaded individual and 
MSME lending programs along with targeted savings and ADC /branchless 
banking propositions to create an integrated retail business with nearly a 
million customers and annual profits in excess of USD 1 million. Fareed 
has a degree in mechanical engineering and is an MBA from the National 
University of Sciences and Technology, Pakistan. In his free time, he 
enjoys gardening, jogging, and playing with his Rottweiler.

Nilawaty Baher, Chief Human Capital

Nilawaty Bahar has over fifteen years of vast experience in human 
resources strategic management that includes setting up HR policies/
procedures, managing personnel administration of organizations with 
1000-2000 employees, facilitating organizational development, change 
management process, implementing Human Resources Information 
System (HRIS), and localization capacity building initiatives in post conflict 
and disaster affected countries.

Nilawaty Bahar completed her Master of Science in Humanitarian Logistics 
and Management from Universita della Svizzera italiana – Switzerland. 
She has a bachelor degree in mathematics and computer science from 
University of Indonesia. She has a diploma in learning and development 
from Charter Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD).

Saduddin Haziq, Chief Compliance Officer 

Mr. Saduddin Haziq, an Afghan national, has over 13 years of legal and 
compliance experience in various Government and Non-Government 
organizations both of International and National repute. He has performed 
several key roles while holding important positions in the Legal and 
Compliance departments of these organizations. Currently Mr. Haziq is 
employed as Chief Compliance Officer with The First MicroFinance Bank-
Afghanistan, a leading Commercial bank of the country. His employment 
with the bank has been duly approved by the Central Bank of Afghanistan. 
His past experiences include Chief Compliance Officer with Afghan 
United Bank, Legal Advisor and Compliance Officer with Afghanistan 
International Bank (The largest bank of the country), Director of Law 
with the Afghanistan Ministry of Finance and Legal Officer with USAID on 
the Afghanistan Government Economic Project. Mr. Haziq holds an MBA 
degree in Public Administration and a Bachelor of Law with honors from 
International Islamic University.
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Maiwand Ludin, Chief Information Officer

Since 11 years, he has lead various projects, teams and delivered end-
to-end technology and operating services in various banks and provided 
consultancy services to various International NGOs. He also oversees 
business continuity, IT Operations and IT Security strategies and policies. 
Ludin has held a number of senior leadership roles. Most recently, he was 
a Senior Project manager. Ludin leads and handles various projects and 
provides solutions for Islamic Banking, Commercial Banking, Disaster 
Recovery, Business Continuity, Compliance, AML, Card Management, 
Chart of Account, IT Operations, IT Security, IT Infrastructure, Finance, 
Operations, Digital Banking, Automation and Communication.

Craig Gomm, Head of Security 

Craig Gomm has worked for FMFB-A since August 2017. He previously 
worked as a senior security consultant to the AKDN Diplomatic Office in 
Kabul for eighteen months, which included advisory services to all non-
profit agencies and the national council within the AKDN network. Prior to 
his work in the security field, he served thirteen years as an officer in the 
Parachute Regiment in South Africa. Craig holds a Diploma in Data metrics 
(Computer Science and Quantitative Management), Bachelor of Science 
(Information Systems and Business Management), Master’s Degree in 
Geographic Information Science (Geospatial and Location Intelligence) 
and is currently pursuing a Master’s Degree in Risk Management.

Zia Qasemi, Head of Professional Services

Mr. Zia Qasemi, an Afghan national, has over 15 years of administrative, 
procurement and human resource management experience in various 
international companies and agencies. He has worked in different 
key positions and played a significant role in developing policies and 
procedures throughout his career. Currently, Mr. Zia Qasemi is employed 
as Head of Professional Services with The First MicroFinance Bank-
Afghanistan, a leading commercial bank of the country. Mr. Zia holds 
a Master’s degree in Operations and Supply Chain Management from 
Universitta Della Svizzera, Lugano, Switzerland and a Bachelor in Business 
Administration from Kardan University, Kabul, Afghanistan.

Prior to working with FMFB-Afghanistan, he worked in Aga Khan 
Foundation and prior to that Task Force Innovation International and lead 
a team of administrative, logistics, transport, inventory, IT, security and 
Procurement for nearly 16 years.
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Board of Directors

Jeffrey Brampton Mundy		  Chairman
Jesse Culain Fripp		  Member
Olaf Zymelka 			   Member
George David Woods		  Member

Company Secretary

Sughra Amiry

Audit Committee

Mr. Nawroz Mohammed Ali – AC Chairman
Mr. Akbar Ladak (AK) – Member AC
Ms. Gulzar Khoja (GK) – Member AC

Share Registrar

Afghanistan Central Business Registry, Ministry of 
Commerce & Industries, Registration # 44111, info@
acbr.gov.af

Tax Identification

Registered with Large Tax Payer Office, Afghanistan 
Revenue Department, Ministry of Finance, TIN: 
1000403012

Auditors and Tax Advisors

Ernst & Young Ford Rhodes Sidat Hyder Chartered 
Accountants, House 1013, Street 2, Shirpoor Road, 
Kabul, Afghanistan
Tel: +93 752 055 025 Email: ey.kbl@af.ey.com 
Internet: www.ey.com 

Legal Advisors

Lex Ferghana - Advocates and Legal Consultants, A-20 
& 21, Muslim Business Center, Haji Yaqoob Square, 
Shahr-e-Naw, Kabul, Afghanistan
Tel: +93 (0)20 221 3074 
Email:nbarakzai@lexferghana.com
Internet: www.lexferghana.com 

Registered Office

Lane 8, Kolola Pushta Road, District 4, 
Kabul-Afghanistan. 
Tel: +93 (0) 790 010 104-5 
www.fmfb.com.af 

Corporate Information
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We have just completed another eventful year in FMFB’s 
history as we celebrate 15 years of achievement, during 
which Afghanistan’s first and only microfinance bank has 
consistently played an important role in the development 
of the country’s microfinance sector.  2018 was marked 
by challenging economic conditions exacerbated by 
political uncertainty and security challenges. Fittingly, it 
was a year of sluggish performance by the microfinance 
sector, with little or no growth posted by nearly all MFIs. 

World Bank data shows only an estimated 10 percent 
of Afghan adults (and only 3.8 percent of adult women) 
own bank accounts; lending to the private sector 
represents only 3.5 percent of GDP. Just two-thirds 
of formal enterprises report having access to a bank 
account; and only around 2 percent of firms use bank 
loans to finance investments. 

FMFB’s evolving 5 year strategic plan takes into 
consideration the changing operating environment 
and challenges while paving its future roadmap. The 
bank’s focus is geared towards expanding its positioning 
through significant investment towards innovation and 
transformation, prudent risk management, enhanced 
service quality measures and talent pool retention. In an 
environment requiring heightened focus on compliance, 
FMFB has continued to invest in technology-driven 
compliance tools to further safeguard against risk in all 
its forms.  

FMFB’s future is linked with its ability to transform legacy 
business processes and organization structures towards 
a ‘digitalized’, agile environment. The team is working 
towards updating technology platforms to improve 

the customer experience and enhance operating 
effectiveness. The bank upgraded to FLEXCUBE 
Universal Banking System (FCUBS) during the year and 
is continuing to invest in new offerings including phone 
banking, internet banking and self-service e-branches. 
The launch of MasterCard debit cards will further 
strengthen the deposit products suite.  Considering 
the considerable opportunities presented by the SME 
sector, FMFB has collaborated with the Afghan Credit 
Guarantee Fund (ACGF) to assess the feasibility of a 
credit-scoring model for SME clients. The project would 
pave way to strengthen capacity building and assist in 
gradual growth in selected SME sectors. 

With over 60% of the population under 25 years of age, 
Afghanistan needs significant investment in human 
capital development. We remain wholeheartedly 
committed to ongoing investment in training and 
developing our people so we ensure that they have 
structured career progression, and enjoy their work. 
FMFB-A is fully committed to developing staff skills 
to meet the digital banking transformation challenges 
proactively, through conventional and e-learning 
trainings.

On behalf of all FMFB-A shareholders, I extend our 
thanks to all FMFB employees for their contribution 
to our performance in 2018. They have been quick 
to recognize customers’ changing needs, and have 
responded effectively, without jeopardizing the human 
touch that sets FMFB apart. The year ahead will have 
its challenges as the Afghanistan continues to recover 
from political instability; however, I am fully confident 
that FMFB management will continue to rise to these 
challenges and meet shareholder expectations. I also 
thank you – the bank’s shareholders – for your faith in 
us to represent your interests at the boardroom table. I 
believe the best is yet to come.

Brampton Mundy
Chairman

Chairman’s Message
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I’m honored to share our 2018 story – a challenging year 
in which we continued to focus on creating more value 
for our clients, communities and shareholders.

We continue to hold the number one position as the 
largest microfinance loan provider in Afghanistan. The 
bank reported earnings of AFN 31,617 mm, down 86% 
from last year, largely because of the effects of Security 
situation in the country which has affected our loan 
quality in different locations. Additionally, the operational 
expenses also went up due to implementation of IT 
projects and lease of new HO. We met all of our medium-
term objectives, and strengthened our OSS ratio to 
105.7%. The balance sheet stood at AFN 12,498,619. 
Our loan portfolio increased by 16% and deposits by 
3% during the calendar year. Despite the extremely 
challenging market situation, we recorded a net interest 
income of ANF 1,219,225. The 2018 performance is 
underpinned by our unwavering purpose to enrich the 
lives of those we serve, in markets other banks are 
reluctant to enter. 

Our financial performance illustrates our disciplined 
approach to controlling costs, investing prudently 
and managing risk through the cycle. But above all, 
our performance highlights the power of our purpose 
to unify every colleague under the common goal of 
helping clients thrive and communities prosper.

Creating more value in a time of change
We are at a seminal moment in our history, a time of 
fundamental rethink. Digital finance is altering client 
expectations and the way they interact with financial 
institutions. Today, we are clear that what has driven our 
success in the past won’t guarantee that same success 

in the future. This is why we’re continuing to invest 
significantly in our digital and innovation strategies 
across our processes and businesses, building on the 
strength of our market-leading assets to deliver more 
value to clients.

Building momentum I’m particularly proud of what 
we achieved in microfinance business this year, which 
drove 72% of our revenue. Earnings were up 1%, 
as we benefitted from tailwinds, including client-
centric product modifications, focus on high-potential 
geographies and positive fundamentals. In 2019, we aim 
to further deepen our relationships with our clients, both 
by offering them the full strength and depth of FMFB-A, 
and by delivering value they can’t find elsewhere.

Leading the way for a better future
We are also committed to creating a lasting positive 
triple bottom-line, including supporting the transition 
to a values-based banking model combining social 
impact and financial sustainability. Over the last year, 
we continued to find, fund, and grow our portfolio to 
empower the underserved. I am proud to share some 
of the highlights from the last year with you here; these 
stories and pictures remind us of the ways that we can 
build a world of economic opportunity for Afghans, 
where everyone can access, use, and benefit from a full 
range of high quality, affordable financial services.

Our people: driving innovation through inclusion
We are committed to championing inclusion as a 
catalyst for the change we need in Afghan society. It’s 
also a source of competitive advantage for us. It’s the 
foundation of our business model. I would like to thank 
our staff for their commitment and sincerity towards 
achieving our social goals. Thank you for pursuing this 
essential, transformative work.

I also want to offer my gratitude to the 150,000+ clients 
who continue to put their trust in FMFB-A. My sincere 
thanks to our Chairman, without whose strategic 
inputs, we could not have reached our current position. 
And to you, our shareholders, I would like to thank 
you for your support and reaffirm our commitment 
to delivering high-quality earnings growth in line with 
our purpose. We will continue to focus on being more 
accessible to our customers through innovation in 
product development, alternative delivery channels, 
smart technology adaptation and overall customer 
satisfaction. 

Frank van der Poll
CEO

CEO’s Message 
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Afghanistan continues to struggle in finding sustainable 
sources of growth which are backbone for any economy 
to thrive.  This biggest challenge is reflected in sluggish 
country’s output which is estimated 1.0 percent in year 
2018 and evaluated 2.7 percent less as compared to the 
previous year.  Apart from heightened political uncertainty 
and election based violence, the landscape was also hit 
by severe draught which led to lowering down wheat 
production, unsettling livestock pasture and generating 
food insecurity in many areas of the country.  

All of this shook the confidence of business community of 
Afghanistan and ultimately created a negative impact on 
livelihoods of the 82 percent of underprivileged population 
of the rural areas. Despite the lower agriculture output, 
inflation remained moderate at 0.6 percent on average in 
2018 due to lower regional food prices and appreciation of 
exchange rate against major trading partners. 

The indicators for slow growth rate are quite alarming. As 
per the New Afghanistan Living Conditions Survey (ALCS), 
it is estimated that there is a substantial increase in the 
proportion of Afghans living below the national poverty line 
resulting in rise from 38% percent for the year 2011/12 to  
55 percent for the year 2016/17. With over 1.7 million 
Afghans internally displaced and more than 2 million 
returning to Afghanistan mostly from Pakistan and Iran 
since 2015, the displacement crisis continues to worsen 
the situation. Hence, the rate of economic growth was 
found lagging behind population growth and leading to 
declining of per capita income and spreading widespread 
hardship especially emerging from drought-induced 
displacement which reached record levels of 298,000 
individuals.

Banking  sector  earned  net profits  of AF 1.93 billion for the 
year 2017, against AF 4.39 billion net profits in 2016. State-
owned banks, private banks and branches of foreign banks 
ended up with profits in the review period. In the external 
sector reserve money (RM) increased by 10.3 percent, 
which is lower than 11.07 percent in 2016 and Currency 
in Circulation (CiC) as a major component of RM recorded 
growth of 2.4 percent Reserve money (RM) and Currency 
in Circulation (CiC) growth remained well below the 
assigned targets during the course of the year under 
review. DAB has experienced accumulation of 7.3 percent 
(USD 498.41 million) in net international reserves (NIR) 
from the beginning of the fiscal year 2017.

Weaker exports and a moderate increase in imports have 
widened the trade deficit to around 35.9 percent of GDP in 

2018. Nominal exports, after strong growth of 28 percent 
in 2017, declined by four percent in 2018, potentially 
reflecting a strengthening of the Afghani against trade 
partner currencies and economic disruption in important 
neighboring economies. Imports increased by 0.7 percent, 
led by a strong increase in vegetable imports. The current 
account narrowed, reflecting the widening trade deficit 
and declining grants. Aid flows almost entirely financed 
the trade deficit.

The agriculture sector accounts for 23.7 percent of total 
GDP and majority of the population is directly or indirectly 
dependent on this sector. The Agriculture sector, based on 
national Statistics and Information Authority calculation, 
expanded in 2017 and reached 21.4 percent. This figure 
was calculated 12.4 percent in 2016. However, share of 
agriculture sector in total GDP increased to 21.4 percent 
in 2017. Observing the data in agriculture sector, all sub-
components of this sector observed higher growth rate in 
2017.

Reflecting high levels of uncertainty, credit-to-the-private 
sector declined by four percent in 2018 and is now equal 
to just three percent of GDP. The credit intermediation 
function of the banking system has remained extremely 
weak, with private sector credit equal to just 12.8 percent 
of bank assets in 2018. Excess liquidity of banks reached 
63 percent of total bank assets. The central bank has 
recently taken action to facilitate access to credit, including 
expanding the list of eligible collateral and the coverage of 
the Public Credit Registry.

Growth in 2019 is expected to remain sluggish but 
slightly recover, largely due to improved weather 
conditions.  Growth in the industry and service sectors will 
remain subdued amidst continued political uncertainty 
surrounding the upcoming presidential elections, 
discussions over continued international security support, 
and a potential peace agreement with the Taliban. Over 
the medium-term, growth is projected to gradually 
accelerate to around 3 percent by 2021, assuming a stable 
political transition following the presidential election and 
subsequent improvement in investor confidence.

Source: World Bank Database, De Afghanistan Bank

Market Outlook 2018
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Furthering the bank’s client-centered commitment, 
FMFB-A became the first bank in Afghanistan to become 
a member of the Global Alliance for Banking on Values 
(GABV) in 2016. In June of that year, FMFB-A’s Board of 
Supervisors approved the Bank’s Values-Based Banking 
Charter (“VBB Charter”), based on the bank’s adherence 
to the Global Alliance for Banking on Values (GABV). This 
Charter outlines the core commitments and strategic 
sustainability objectives that were modelled on the 
Sustainability Scorecard developed by GABV. 

This scorecard is a metrics tool which aims to assess 
financial institutions along the following dimensions:  

1.  Resiliency through Earnings  
2.  Resiliency through Capital 
3.  Resiliency through Asset Quality 
4.  Resiliency through Client-Based Liquidity 
5.  Assets Committed to the Real Economy 
6.  Revenues from the Real Economy 
7.  Assets Committed to Triple-Bottom-Line (TBL)

FMFB-A continued to mainstream its Sustainability 
Strategy Management (SSM) System, developed and led 
by the Business Strategy and Marketing (BSM) Function. 
It remained one of the bank’s core Values-Based Banking 
Strategy objectives for 2018, as well as the basis of FMFB’s 
Sustainability Strategy Framework Policy. 

Sustainability Reporting is an ongoing process which will 
progressively increase the depth and scope of data to be 
collected and centrally analyzed following a structured and 
standardized methodology, while incorporating ad-hoc 
dynamic reporting as and when required. The ultimate 
objective is to enhance BoS and Management’s capacity 
to make informed business decisions and to immediately 
detect and mitigate arising risks.       

SSM at FMFB is a pilot initiative for AKAM’s wider 
Social Outcomes Framework, which aims to develop 
similar reporting frameworks for other AKAM-affiliated 
institutions, providing actionable insights to align their 
activities with their mission statements. 

FMFB-A has endorsed the Universal Standards for Social 
Performance Management (the “Universal Standards”) 
developed by the Social Performance Task Force (SPTF) as 
well as the SMART Campaign Client Protection Principles 
(“CPPs”) with the approval of its Sustainability Strategy 
Framework Policy. FMFB-A aims to be the first Financial 
Service Provider in Afghanistan to ensure full compliance 
with these standards.   

The Smart Campaign is a global initiative committed to 
embedding client protection practices into the institutional 
culture and operations of the microfinance industry. Its 
CPPs were developed to help Financial Service Providers 
practice good ethics and smart business and, together 
with the Universal Standards were developed and updated 
through a closely coordinated process involving the Smart 
Campaign, the SPTF, and CERISE, who developed the SPI4 
Tool, one of the most widely used social assessment tools 
by Financial Service Providers. The SPTF fully integrated 
the updated Client Protection standards into the relevant 
sections within the updated Universal Standards. 

The Standards cover the following areas: 

1.  Appropriate Design of Products and Services 
2.  Prevention of Over-indebtedness 
3.  Transparency 
4.  Responsible Pricing 
5.  Fair Treatment of Clients 
6. Privacy of Client Data 
7.  Mechanisms for Complaint Resolution

FMFB-A’s exposure to Environmental and Social Risks in its 
client portfolio is primarily restricted to its SME portfolio, 
where borrowers are engaged in higher risk activities. As 
a result, the SME loan approval process includes a strict 
E&S screening and due diligence process, developed and 
supported by the German Afghan Credit Guarantee Fund 
(ACGF) as well as the Afghan-based Consultancy SME 
Client Support Afghanistan (SCSA).   

Values-based Banking and Sustainability 
Strategy Management
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Financial Performance

Active Clients: 185,661 Gross Loan Portfolio: 6,296,393 Net Profit After Tax: 31,617
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Shareholders

Our shareholders play a vital role to contribute towards our mission of uplifting the underprivileged segments of 
the society in Afghanistan.  Our shareholders include Aga Khan Development Network (AKDN), Kreditanstalt Fur 
Wiederaufbau (KFW), International Finance Corporation (IFC) and Aga Khan Foundation U.S.A. (AKF USA), which 
collaborate with FMFB Afghanistan to improve the life of the people with various products and services offered. 

Shareholding Structure
The shareholding structure of the bank as at 31st August 2018 is as below:

Shareholder Profiles
About the Aga Khan Agency for Microfinance (AKAM)
For more than 60 years, various agencies of the Aga Khan Development Network (AKDN) have offered microfinance 
services through integrated development programmes and self-standing microfinance institutions. Savings groups and 
revolving housing loans were offered by AKDN institutions as early as the 1950s. Later, the Aga Khan Rural Support 
Programmes (AKRSP) in India and Pakistan made savings groups a cornerstone of their integrated approach to 
development. These programmes, as well as others, helped start businesses, create jobs, build homes and finance 
house improvements, purchase seed and livestock, smooth over the impact of unforeseen health costs and make higher 
education possible. Today, these programmes have been brought together under the Aga Khan Agency for Microfinance 
(AKAM). The underlying objectives of AKAM are to reduce poverty, diminish the vulnerability of poor populations and 
alleviate economic and social exclusion. AKAM aims to improve the quality of life of people by helping them to improve 
their incomes, become self-reliant and gain the skills needed to graduate into the mainstream financial markets. For 
more information, visit www.akdn.org/akam.asp

Kreditanstalt Für Wiederaufbau (KfW)
The KfW is a German government-owned development bank, based in Frankfurt. KfW provides economic impulses for 
the economy, society and ecology in Germany, Europe, and the world over. It supports change, promotes promising 
ideas and finances investments and accompanying consulting services in developing countries. It carries out its work 
and its development mandate on behalf of the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development 
(BMZ).

No	 Name of Shareholder					     Percentage of Shareholding

1	 Aga Khan Agency for Microfinance (AKAM)	 39.4%

2	 Kreditanstalt Für Wiederaufbau (KfW)		  31.9%

3	 International Finance Corporation (IFC)	 16.8%

4	 Aga Khan Foundation USA (AKF USA)		  11.9%
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International Finance Corporation (IFC)
IFC, a member of the World Bank Group, is the largest global development institution focused exclusively on the private 
sector in developing countries. Established in 1956, IFC is owned by 184 member countries, a group that collectively 
determines our policies. Our work in more than 100 developing countries allows companies and financial institutions 
in emerging markets to create jobs, generate tax revenues, improve corporate governance and environmental 
performance, and contribute to their local communities. IFC’s vision is that people should have the opportunity to 
escape poverty and improve their lives. As the largest global development institution focused on the private sector, IFC 
works closely with businesses in developing countries to help them succeed in ways that promote prosperity for all. The 
IFC’s stated aim is to create opportunities for people to escape poverty and achieve better living standards by mobilizing 
financial resources for private enterprise, promoting accessible and competitive markets, supporting businesses and 
other private sector entities, and creating jobs and delivering necessary services to those who are poverty-stricken or 
otherwise vulnerable. Since 2009, the IFC has focused on a set of development goals that its projects are expected to 
target. Its goals are to increase sustainable agriculture opportunities, improve health and education, increase access 
to financing for microfinance and business clients, advance infrastructure, help small businesses grow revenues, and 
invest in climate health.

Aga Khan Foundation U.S.A. (AKF)
Aga Khan Foundation U.S.A. (AKF USA), established in 1981 in Washington DC, is a private, non-denominational, not-for-
profit international organization committed to the struggle against poverty, hunger, illiteracy and poor health, primarily 
in Africa and Asia. The Foundation works to address the root causes of poverty by supporting and sharing innovative 
solutions in the areas of health, education, rural development, civil society and the environment. Using community-
based approaches to meet basic human needs, the Foundation builds the capacity of community and non-governmental 
organizations to have a lasting impact on reducing poverty. Aga Khan Foundation has branches and affiliates in 20 
countries with its headquarters in Geneva, Switzerland since 1967. AKF USA is an agency of the Aga Khan Development 
Network (AKDN). AKF USA’s role within the Network includes mobilizing resources and strategic partnerships with a 
variety of U.S.-based institutional partners including government agencies, policy institutes, corporations, foundations, 
NGOs, universities, associations and professional networks. AKF USA serves as a learning institution for program 
enhancement, policy dialogue and disseminating best practices and knowledge resources. It collaborates in providing 
technical, financial and capacity-building support to other AKDN agencies and programs worldwide. In facilitating and 
representing AKDN interests in the US, AKF USA organizes outreach campaigns, manages volunteer resources and 
conducts development education among US constituencies.
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Our Products and Services

As Afghanistan’s largest microfinance bank, we are firmly committed to provide financial services to the country’s low-
income population in order to promote entrepreneurship and improve their standard of living. We aspire to empower 
our clients through efficient delivery of financial products and services suited to their goals and help them pursue their 
ambitions. Our product suite includes a host of offerings catering to a wide spectrum of clients ranging from “Bottom-
of-the-Pyramid” segment to high net-worth SME businesses.

Loans

Agriculture Loan –
Zara’at

Agriculture Loan –
Zaare

Small Enterprise Loan – 
Karobar

SME Loan

Housing Loan - Tameer

Personal Loan - Shakhsi

SME Over Draft

Flexible term loan designed to meet the financing needs of smallholder 
farmers/livestock owners for horticulture, irrigation, dairy, poultry and 
allied agriculture activities across the entire agro-value chain from farm 
to fork.

Flexible term loan designed to meet the financing needs of smallholder 
farmers/livestock owners for horticulture, irrigation, dairy, poultry and 
allied agriculture activities across the entire agro-value chain from farm 
to fork.

Individual term loan designed for entrepreneurs (artisans, craftsmen, 
and small traders/service providers) engaged in income generating 
activities to facilitate expansion/upgrade of business, asset purchase, 
replenishment of stock (raw material, inventory) etc.

Term financing for SME customers to meet their genuine long-term 
financing needs for business such as capex, upgrading factory/ office 
construction, purchase of property or fixed asset acquisitions or boost 
permanent working capital.

Incremental housing loan for low-income earners for renovations and/
or expansion of house structures, connection to domestic utilities like 
water and electricity; septic tanks/wells; construction of boundary walls, 
windows, kitchen, toilets, tube well etc.

Loans for employees of approved panel organizations seeking financing 
for consumption purposes.

Flexible form of borrowing intended for SMEs to finance day-to-day cash 
flow requirements generated by normal business activity and utilize funds 
as and when required without a fixed repayment schedule.
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Women Loan
(Individual and Group)

Solar Loan - Tanveer

Vehicle Loan
(Qarze Motar)

Student Loan
(Qarze Tahsili)

Healthcare Loan
(Qarze Sahat)

Marriage Loan
(Qarze Arosi)

Home Appliances Loan
(Qarze Vasayel Khana)

Awdat Loan

Quality of Life Loans

Individual and group loans with preferential rates designed for female 
entrepreneurs engaging in income generating activities.

Financing for high-quality small solar power systems supplied by IFC-
approved manufacturers for use in off-grid areas by households and 
micro enterprises.

The product is designed to empower Afghan returnees repatriated from 
Pakistan of Iran in the last 1 to 10 years. The objective is to promote 
income-generating activities among Afghan returnees in order to enable 
them to become self-sufficient.

These products are designed to provide financing for individuals that 
have been excluded from traditional financial services and require loans 
for their personal consumption needs such as; education, emergency, 
marriage and purposes that will eventually enhance the quality of the 
recipient’s personal lives.

Deposit Accounts

Current Account

Basic Banking
Current Account

Non-remunerative current account with free SMS alerts offered in AFN/
USD and EUR - making everyday banking easier.

A no-frills basic current account with no minimum balance requirement.
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High Yield Savings
 Account

Women Savings
Account

Term Deposit
Account

International 
Remittances

Women-only Branch

Agent Banking

SMS Notifications

Money Exchange

Employee Banking

Available in AFN and USD - offers a higher profit rate paid out quarterly 
calculated on monthly average balances maintained.

Savings scheme for women to meet their financial needs offering a higher 
profit rate paid out monthly - empowering Afghan women with financial 
independence and simplified banking.

Offer a higher rate of return on investments starting from as little as AFN 
25,000 or $500 for tenures ranging from 1-12 months.

Hassle-free and quick transfer of funds to/from overseas through SWIFT 
and Express Money.

In keeping with the social fabric of contemporary Afghan culture, the 
unique women-only branch is aimed at providing women with a viable 
alternative to address their banking needs - offers concessional loan 
schemes for female entrepreneurs.

Loan disbursements and repayments at M-Paisa agents through 
partnership with Roshan Telecom.

Real-time transaction alerts for Deposit account holders.

Foreign currency exchange payments at branch counters (USD, EUR).

Bulk payroll processing facility for Employers.

Other Services

Savings Account –
Mahfooz

Savings account in AFN, USD and EUR - powered with all the features of a 
transactional account with monthly profit payout to grow savings.
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The Story of Farima

The story of 35-year old Farima is a reflection of the challenges and hardships faced by thousands of Afghan 
women. Farima got married at a very young age. After marriage, she was compelled to leave the school while she 
was studying in the seventh grade.  Ending of her schooling was actually a grand beginning for her. She pursued her 
motivation of being self-reliant by secretly attending a three month beautician course during the Taliban regime, 
which banned women and girls from working and attending schools. But Farima remained determined. She started 
to find ways for advertising her business. Farima’s destiny changed ten years ago when her husband, a soldier in the 
National Directorate of Security (NDS), was killed, and the young widow had to run a family of six, four daughters 
and one son.

Since then, Farima, a resident of Herat province, had been running a beauty salon inside her house and renting 
bridal dresses to make ends meet. With the income earned from her small beauty salon, she managed to feed her 
five children and their education.  With all these liabilities on her head, it was very challenging for Farima to expand 
her business. The cost of raising a large family on her own prevented her from raising her income, letting alone 
saving enough capital to purchase more cosmetics and wedding merchandise, or paying rent to open a shop in 
Herat City. About a year ago, Farima heard about microfinance services in the city from a friend. She applied for a 
loan amounting AFN 100,000 from FMFB Afghanistan. 

Although it is the first ever loan for Farima, its impact on her family life was almost immediate. With a wide variety 
of merchandise, her income almost doubled with more inflow of customers which mostly included brides. Hence, 
increasing Farima’s net income from AFN 7,000 a month to AFN 15,000. This is more than she has ever earned and 
she is no longer worried that she wouldn’t be able to afford her children’s education. Farima’s eldest daughter is a 
student of Fine Arts in Herat University and is learning painting professionally. The other four children are attending 
public schools.

“The microcredit worked well for me; it was just the break that I needed to expand my business,” said Farima. 
Another beautician benefited from a loan after Farima introduced her to microfinance. “I’m not done yet,” Farima 
said, referring to her future plans. “I will apply again for a bigger loan after I fully pay the first one. I intend to rent a 
shop in the city where I’m sure the visibility would bring me more clients.” Currently, Farima’s daughters are helping 
their mother to run the business as apprentices, acquiring cosmetology skills along the way. 

Farima is on her way to achieve what she didn’t have. She wants to realize the dream of empowering her daughters 
with education and make her discover their potential in a fear free environment. 
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The Story of Bibi Arefa

When there is a will, there is a way. A statement which made Bibi Arefa rise and challenge the impossible. She is a 
55-year old widow, who belongs from Shinwari village in the Sayed Khail District of Parwan province. 

After the demise of her husband and marriage of her three sons, Arefa endeavored to overcome the odds with self-
belief and determination. Despite being the primary caretaker of her elderly mother and a nephew who had lost 
both of his parents, she was convinced to make the difference in her life.

“I was lost and wondering what to do. I was just a housewife with no business experience.” stated Arefa.

Arefa heard about the loan facility offered by FMFB Afghanistan from her neighbor.  She approached the Bank and 
applied for a loan of AFN 60,000 which got approval in no time.  After receiving the loan, Arefa purchased a Cow 
and Twenty Chickens to commence her Dairy and Poultry business. Within a short span of time, Arefa expanded 
her asset base. Currently she owns two calves in addition to a cow from which she makes an average earning of 
AFN 150-200 per day. 

Moreover, after sharing dairy products among friends and family members in her neighborhood, Arefa is still able 
to sell up to 5 kg of homemade yogurt per day, at the rate of AFN 40 per kg. 

“These cows and chickens have been very useful to me. Whenever I have guests, I serve them with milk and cooked 
eggs” stated Arefa.

Arefa has expansion and succession plans for her business. She wants to purchase one more cow without applying 
for another loan. At the same time, she is also teaching her nephew basic livestock techniques so that her nephew 
takes over her business in the years ahead. 



Annual Report 2018 27

Ernst & Young Ford Rhodes Sidat Hyder
Chartered Accountants
House 1013, Street 2
Shirpoor Road, Kabul
Afghanistan

Tel: +93 725 055 025
ey.kbl@af.ey.com
ey.com/pk

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Board of Supervisors

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The First MicroFinance Bank (the Bank), which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and statement of comprehensive income, statement of cash flows and 
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as 
at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
the accounting framework as stated in note 2 to the financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Afghanistan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the accounting framework as stated in note 2 to the financial statements, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
lSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Building a better
working world



Annual Report 201828

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Bank’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

Chartered Accountants
Audit Engagement Partner: Shabbir Yunus
Date: 28 March 2019
Kabul, Afghanistan
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31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 4,589,836

          

5,798,185

           

Placements - net 7 843,840

             

399,867

              

Loans and advances to customers - net 8 5,868,698

          

5,191,284

           

Operating fixed assets 9 98,625

                

77,156

                 

Intangible assets 10 100,672

              

118,021

               

Other assets 11 996,948

             

963,907

              

Total Assets 12,498,619

        

12,548,420

         

Liabilities
Deposits from customers 12 7,669,494

         

7,577,081

            

Loans and borrowings 13 2,586,799

          

2,791,586

           

Income tax payable 15,519

                 
33,086

                

Deferred tax liabilities - net 14 22,440
               

16,157
                 

Other liabilities 15 182,181
              

139,941
              

Total Liabilities 10,476,433
       

10,557,851
          

Equity
Share capital 16 796,008             796,008              
Share premium 206,038             206,038              
Retained earnings 1,020,140

          
988,523
              Total equity 2,022,186 1,990,569

Total equity and liabilities 12,498,619

        
12,548,420

         
Contingencies and commitments 17

The annexed notes 1 to 33 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended December 31, 2018

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------

Acting Chief Financial Officer Acting Chief Executive Officer Chairman
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2018 2017
Note

Interest income 18 1,414,304 1,427,469
Interest expense 19 (195,079) (164,023)
Net interest income 1,219,225

     

1,263,446

     

Fee and commission income 20 90,347

          

91,538

          

Fee and commission expense 21 (11,752)

         

(10,508)

        

Net fee and commission income 78,595

          

81,030

          

Income from dealing in foreign currencies 130,121

        

110,420

        

Revenue 1,427,941

    

1,454,896

     

Other income 22 49,333

          

25,337

          

Impairment loss on loans and advances to customers 8.2 (128,203) (68,824)

        

Impairment loss on placements 6 & 7 (2,693)

           

(14)

                

General provision on:
Other assets 11 3,700

            

(3,318)

           

Off-balance sheet items 15 -

                

(777)

              

Personnel expenses 23 (634,054)

      

(594,227)

       

Depreciation and amortisation 9 & 10 (59,598)

         
(41,540)

        

Penalties (9,875)
           

(1,187)
           

Other expenses 24 (529,314)
       

(481,838)
      

Net operating income 117,237
        

288,508
       

Non-operating revenue and expenses:
Development grant income 15 1,450            10,346          
Operating grant income 12,374

          
-
                Expenditure against grants 25 (13,824)

         
(10,346)

        -

                
-

                Profit before tax 117,237

        

288,508

       Income tax expense 26 (85,620)

         

(57,370)

         
Net profit 31,617

          

231,138

        
Other comprehensive income -

                

-

                
Total comprehensive income 31,617 231,138

        
Earnings per share 27 0.36 2.62

The annexed notes 1 to 33 form an integral part of these financial statements.

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------

Acting Chief Financial Officer Acting Chief Executive Officer Chairman

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2018
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Share capital 
Share 

premium
Retained 
earnings  Total 

Balance at 01 January 2017 796,008

       
206,038

       
757,385

       
1,759,431

Total comprehensive income -

                

-

                

231,138

       

231,138

Balance at 31 December 2017 796,008

       

206,038

 

988,523

 

1,990,569

Effect due to adoption of IFRS 9 -

               

-

 

- -

Restated opening balance under IFRS 9 796,008

       

206,038

 

988,523

       

1,990,569

Total comprehensive income -

               

-

 

31,617

        

31,617

Balance at 31 December 2018 796,008

       

206,038

 

1,020,140

   

2,022,186

The annexed notes 1 to 33 form an integral part of these financial statements.

------------------------ (Afn in '000) ---------------------------

Statement of Changes in Equity

Acting Chief Financial Officer Acting Chief Executive Officer

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Chairman
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2018 2017
Note

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 117,237

        
288,508

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 9 & 10 61,048

          

43,890
Impairment loss on loans and advances to customers 8.2 128,203

        

68,824
Impairment loss on placements 6 & 7 2,693

            

14
General provision on

Other assets 11 (3,700)

           

3,318
Off-balance sheet items 15 -

               

777
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 22 (278)

              

(142)
Grant income 25 (13,824)

         

(10,346)
291,379

        

394,843
Changes in:

Increase in loans and advances to customers (805,617)

       

(598,562)
Increase in other assets (29,341)

         

(239,623)
Increase in deposits from customers 92,413

          

1,386,418
Increase in other liabilities 42,240

         

10,342
(408,926)

      

953,418

Income tax paid (96,907)

         

(10,967)
Grant received 13,824

          

10,346
Net cash flows (used in) / from operating activities (492,009)

      

952,797

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment (65,563)

         

(76,853)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 675

               

165
Net investment in placements (446,665)

      

859,055
Net cash flows (used in) / from investing activities (511,553)

        

782,367

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 264,598 640,915
Repayment of loans and borrowings (469,385) (315,095)
Net cash flows (used in) / from financing activities (204,787) 325,820

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,208,349) 2,060,984
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 5,798,185 3,737,201
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4,589,836 5,798,185

The annexed notes 1 to 33 form an integral part of these financial statements.

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------

Statement of Cash Flows

Acting Chief Financial Officer Acting Chief Executive Officer

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Chairman
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Status and Nature of Operations

2. Basis of Preparation and Measurement

2.1

Standard or Interpretation
- IFRS 2 - Share-based Payments – Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payments

Transactions (Amendments)
- IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts: Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance 

Contracts – (Amendments)
- IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
- IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
- IFRIC Interpretation 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The First MicroFinance Bank (the Bank) was registered with Afghanistan Investment Support Agency (AISA)
in December 2003 and received formal banking license from Da Afghanistan Bank (DAB), the central bank of
Afghanistan, on 18 March 2004 to operate nationwide. The license of the Bank was renewed by Ministry of
Commerce and Industries on 01 May 2017 till 29 April 2020. The Bank is a limited liability company and is
incorporated and domiciled in Afghanistan. Since commencement of operations on 01 May 2004, the Bank
has been operating as the leading financial services provider in Afghanistan contributing to poverty
alleviation and economic development, through provision of sustainable financial services primarily targeted
at the micro and small businesses and households.

The registered office of the Bank is situated in Kabul; Afghanistan. The Bank has 38 (2017: 38) branches in
operation including 17 (2017: 17) urban branches and 21 (2017: 21) rural / peri urban branches in operation
at the year end and employed 1,137 (2017: 1,113) staff.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standard Board, the Law of Banking in Afghanistan
and other laws and regulations issued by Da Afghanistan Bank. Whenever the requirement of the Law of
Banking in Afghanistan and other laws and regulations issued by Da Afghanistan Bank differs with the
requirements of the IFRS, the requirement of the Law of Banking in Afghanistan and other laws and
regulations issued by Da Afghanistan Bank takes precedence.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Bank’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

The Bank has adopted the following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of IFRSs
which became effective for the current year:

These financial statements comprise statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income
as a single statement, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and the accompanying notes.

These financial statements have been prepared using accrual basis of accounting under the historical cost
convention.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2018

1.
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2.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting standards that 
are not yet effective

Effective date 
(accounting periods 

Standards, Interpretations and Amendments beginning on or after)

- IFRS 3 - Definition of a Business (Amendments) January 01, 2020

- IFRS 9 - Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation January 01, 2019
(Amendments)

- IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investment in
Associates and Joint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendment) Not yet finalized

- IFRS 16 - Leases January 01, 2019

- IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts January 01, 2021

- IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments January 01, 2019

- IAS 1/ IAS 8 - Definition of Material (Amendments) January 01, 2020

- IAS 19 - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments) January 01, 2019

- IAS 28 - Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
 (Amendments) January 01, 2019

3. Functional and Presentation Currency

The adoption of the above amendments, improvements to accounting standards and interpretations
did not have any effect on the financial statements except IFRS 9 as disclosed in note 5.1 to the
financial statements.

The following standards, amendments and interpretations with respect to the approved accounting
standards would be effective from the dates mentioned there against:

The above standards, amendments and interpretations are not expected to have any material impact
on the Bank's financial statements in the period of initial application except IFRS 16 for which the Bank is
in the process of estimating the impact on its financial statements.

In addition to the above standards and amendments, improvements to various accounting standards
have also been issued by the IASB in December 2017. Such improvements are generally effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2019. The Bank expects that such improvements
to the standards will not have any material impact on the Bank's financial statements in the period of initial application. 

These financial statements are presented in Afghani (‘Afn’), which is the Bank’s functional currency. All
amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.

Improvements to Accounting Standards Issued by the IASB in December 2016

- IAS 28 - Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Clarification that measuring investees at fair
value through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice
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4.

4.1

Use of Estimates and Judgments

Provision of income taxes

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognized prospectively. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are given below:

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of the Bank’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The Bank recognizes tax liability in accordance with the provisions of Income Tax Law 2009. The final tax 
liability is dependent on assessment by Ministry of Finance, Government of Islamic Republic of Afghanistan. 

4.2 Useful life of property and equipment and intangible assets

4.3 Impairment losses on financial instruments

-

- The Bank’s internal credit grading model;

- The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

-

-

-

The Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so
allowances for financial assets should be measured on a LTECL basis and the qualitative assessment;

Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such
as GDP growth; and

Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive
The economic inputs into The ECL models.

The Bank’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions
regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that
are considered accounting judgments and estimates include:

The Bank maintains a general provision of 4.98% on standard loans in line with bank's own provisioning
policy which is relatively higher than regulatory requirement. 

The Bank reviews the useful life, depreciation method and residual value of property and equipment
(note 5.12) and intangible assets (note 5.13) at each statement of financial position date. Any change in
estimates may affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of property and equipment and
intangible assets with a corresponding effect on the depreciation / amortization charge.

The banks accounting framework considers both the provision prescribed under local regulations in
Afghanistan and IFRS 9. Therefore, the Bank’s level of provision for impairment against financial asset
considers the requirements of both regimes.

It has been the Bank’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experienceand
adjust when necessary.

Development of ECL models, including The various formulas and The choice of inputs to such
models;
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5. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

5.1 Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

5.1.1 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

5.1.1.1 Changes to classification and measurement

To determine their classification and measurement category, IFRS 9 requires all financial
assets, except equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a
combination of the entity’s business model for managing the assets and the
instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics.

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 for annual periods on or after 01 January 2018 and upon adoption of IFRS
9 Bank has not restated comparative information for 2017 for financial instruments in the scope
of IFRS 9, therefore, the comparative information for 2017 is reported under IAS 39 and is not
comparable to the information presented for 2018.

In these financial statements, the Bank has applied IFRS 9 and IFRS 7R, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 01 January 2018, for the first time.

The accounting policies adopted in preparation of this financial statements are consistent with those followed 
in the preparation of the annual financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2017 other
than as disclosed in note 5.1 below:

- Debt instruments at amortized cost;

-

-

- Financial assets FVPL.

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), with gains
or losses recycled to profit or loss on de recognition;

Equity instruments at FVOCI, with no recycling of gains or losses profit or loss on
derecognition; and

The IAS 39 measurement categories of financial assets (fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL), available for sale (AFS), held-to-maturity and amortized cost) have been replaced
by:

Under IFRS 9, the classification is based on two criteria: the Bank’s business model for
managing the assets; and whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows represent
‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount outstanding (the ‘SPPI
criterion’). The new classification and measurement of the Bank’s debt financial assets is
“Debt instruments at amortized cost” for financial assets that are held within a business
model with the objective to hold the financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows that meet the SPPI criterion.

The accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was under IAS 39,
except for the treatment of gains or losses arising from an entity’s own credit risk relating
to liabilities designated at FVPL. Such movements are presented in OCI with no
subsequent reclassification to the income statement. 

The Bank’s classification of its financial assets and liabilities is explained in notes 5.6.1.4
and 5.6.2.
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5.1.1.2 Changes to the impairment calculation

Details of the Bank’s impairment method are disclosed in note 5.6.4.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Bank’s accounting for loan loss
impairments by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking
expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the Bank to record an allowance for
ECLs for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL, together with loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The allowance is based on the ECLs
associated with the probability of default in the next twelve months unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination. If the financial asset meets the
definition of purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI), the allowance is based on
the change in the ECLs over the life of the asset. 

The assessment of the Bank’s business models was made as of the date of initial
application, 01 January 2018, and then applied retrospectively to those financial assets
that were not derecognized before 01 January 2018. The assessment of whether
contractual cash flows on debt instruments are solely comprised of principal and interest
was based on the facts and circumstances as at the initial recognition of the assets.

As of 01 January 2018, the Bank did not have any debt instruments that did not meet
the SPPI criterion within its held-to-maturity portfolio. As a result of business model
assessment the Bank concluded that the debt instruments currently classified as HTM
are held within the business model of collecting cash flows and not selling such
instruments, therefore, it elected to classify all of these instruments as debt instruments 
measured at amortized cost.

The Bank did not voluntarily designate any loans previously measured at amortized cost
as financial assets measured at FVPL. Loan and advances to customers that were
classified as Loans and Receivables and measured at amortized cost under IAS 39 are also 
measured at amortized cost under IFRS 9.

5.1.2 IFRS 7R

To reflect the differences between IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

5.2 Foreign currency 

Foreign currency differences arising on translation is recognized in profit or loss.

Disclosures were updated and the Bank has adopted it, together with IFRS 9, for the year
beginning 01 January 2018. Detailed qualitative and quantitative information about the ECL
calculations such as the assumptions and inputs used are set out in n ote 30.1.1.

Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the equity of the Bank has not been affected as the provision held
under local regulations was higher than the provision determined under IFRS 9.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Bank at the spot
exchange rate at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated
into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated into the functional
currency at the spot exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
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5.3 Interest

5.4 Fees and commission 

5.5 Income tax

5.5.1 Current tax

Fee and commission expenses relates mainly to the transactions services fee, which are expensed as the
services are received.

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in the profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for
the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Fees and commission income includes commission income on bank guarantees, account servicing fees,
funds transfer fee and placement fee are recognized as the related services are performed. 

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The
‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate a shorter
period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest
rate, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument,
but not future credit losses.

Interest income and expense presented in the statement of comprehensive income include interest on
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost calculated on an effective interest basis.

In accordance with the Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulation (ACPR) issued by DAB, all
interest accrual is suspended on all interest-earning assets where the asset is classified as doubtful or
loss as per the regulation. However such assets are secured by collateral and personal guarantees and in
process of collection. When an asset is placed on non-accrual status, all accrued unpaid interest is
reversed.

5.5.2 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary
differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used.
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5.5.3 Tax exposures

5.6 Financial instruments

5.6.1 Financial instruments – initial recognition

5.6.1.1 Date of recognition

5.6.1.2 Initial measurement of financial instruments

5.6.1.3 Day 1 profit or loss

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their
contractual terms and the business model for managing the instruments. Financial
instruments are initially measured at their fair value, except in the case of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added to, or subtracted
from, this amount. Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price. When the
fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from the transaction price,
the Bank accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below. 

When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination and
the fair value is based on a valuation technique using only inputs observable in market
transactions, the Bank recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair
value in net trading income. In those cases where fair value is based on models for which
some of the inputs are not observable, the difference between the transaction price and
the fair value is deferred and is only recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become
observable, or when the instrument is derecognized. 

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Bank considers the impact of tax
exposures, including whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relieson
estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New
information may become available that causes the Bank to change its judgment regarding the
adequacy of existing tax liabilities;such as changes to tax liabilitieswould impact tax expense in
the period in which such a determination is made.

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers,
are initially recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Bank becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally
established by regulation or convention in the market place. Loans and advances to
customers are recognized when funds are transferred to the customers’ accounts.

5.6.1.4 Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities

- Amortized cost, as explained in note 5.6.2.1; and

- FVPL.

From 01 January 2018, the Bank classifiesall of its financial assets based on the business
model for managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at either:

The Bank may designate financial instruments at FVPL, if so doing eliminates or
significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies, as explained in note 5.6.2.3.
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5.6.2 Financial assets and liabilities

5.6.2.1 Loans and advances to Customers and placements at amortized cost

-

-

The details of these conditions are outlined below:

Business model assessment

-

-

-

-

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal
amount outstanding.

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows.

How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within
that business model are evaluated and reported to the entity's key management
personnel.

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages
groups of financial assets to achieve its business objective.

The Bank's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at
a higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as: 

From 01 January 2018, the Bank only measures Loans and advances to customers and
other financial investments at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

Before 01 January 2018, the Bank classified its financial assets as loans and receivables
(amortized cost), held-to-maturity (amortized cost), as explained in note 5.6.2.1.

Financial liabilities,other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured
at amortized cost or at FVPL when they are held for trading and derivative instruments or
the fair value designation is applied, as explained in note 5.6.2.3.

Before 01 January 2018 and Loans and advances to customers, included non–derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that were not quoted in an active
market.

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial
assets held within that business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed.

How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the
compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or on the
contractual cash flows collected).

The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of
the Bank’s assessment.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without
taking 'worst case' or 'stress case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial
recognition are realized in a way that is different from the Bank's original expectations,
the Bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that
business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or
newly purchased financial assets going forward.
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The SPPI test

5.6.2.2 Debt issued and other borrowed funds 

5.6.2.3 Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

- 

- 

- 

The liabilities (and assets until 01 January 2018 under IAS 39) are part of a group of 
financial liabilities (or financial assets, or both under IAS 39), which are managed
and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy; or

The liabilities (and assets until 01 January 2018 under IAS 39) containing one or
more embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly modify the cash
flows that would otherwise be required by the contract, or it is clear with little or
no analysis when a similar instrument is first considered that separation of the
embedded derivative(s) is prohibited 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the
exception of movements in fair value of liabilities designated at FVPL due to changes in
the Bank’s own credit risk. Such changes in fair value are recorded in the Own credit
reserve through OCI and do not get recycled to the profit or loss. Interest earned or
incurred on instruments designated at FVPL is accrued in interest income or interest

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowed funds are subsequently
measured at amortized cost. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on issue funds, and costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate (EIR). A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and
an equity component is separated at the issue date. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities in this category are those that are not held for
trading and have been either designated by management upon initial recognition or are
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value under IFRS 9. Management only
designates an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when one of the following
criteria are met. Such designation is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis: 

The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment
that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing
gains or losses on them on a different basis; or 

Second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of
financial assets / liabilities to identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at
initial recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there
are repayments of principal or amortization of the premium/discount). 

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the
consideration for the time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment,
the Bank applies judgment and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which
the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set.

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than minimum exposure to risks or
volatility in the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement
do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is required to be
measured at FVPL.
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expense, respectively, using the EIR, taking into account any discount/ premium and
qualifying transaction costs being an integral part of instrument. Interest earned on
assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVPL is recorded using contractual interest rate. 

5.6.3 Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

5.6.4 Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable from 01 January 2018)

5.6.4.1 Overview of the ECL principles

- 

- 

- 

- 

Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired. The Bank records an allowance for the
LTECLs. 

POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets
that are credit impaired on initial recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair
value at original recognition and interest income is subsequently recognized based 
on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognized or released to the extent that
there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses. 

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the
asset (the lifetime expected credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant
increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 12
months’ expected credit loss (12mECL) as outlined in note 5.6.4.2). The Bank’s policies
for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk are set out in note 5.6.5. 

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date. 

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis
depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment at the end of each reporting
period of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the
remaining life of the financial instrument. This is further explained in note 30.1.1.

Based on the above process, the Bank groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and
POCI, as described below:

Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the Bank recognises an allowance based
on 12mECLs. Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has
improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 2. 

Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the Bank records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also
include facilities, where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been
reclassified from Stage 3. 

From 01 January 2018, the Bank does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial
recognition, apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the Bank acquires, disposes of,
or terminates a business line. Financial liabilities are never reclassified. The Bank did not reclassify
any of its financial assets or liabilities in 2017.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Bank’s loan loss impairment
method by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking ECL
approach. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS 9. 
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5.6.4.2 The calculation of ECLs

For financial assets for which the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering
either the entire outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset is reduced. This is considered a partial de-recognition of the financial assets.

The Bank calculates ECLs based on a four probability-weighted scenarios to measure the
expected cash shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is
the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 

- PD

- EAD

- LGD

Loan commitments

Financial guarantee contracts 

The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given
time horizon. A default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed
period, if the facility has not been previously de recognized and is still in the
portfolio. The concept of PDs is further explained in note 30.1.1.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as
follows: 

The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date,
taking into account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date,
including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or
otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest
from missed payments. The EAD is further explained in note 30.1.1.

The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a
default occurs at a given time. It is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive,
including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a
percentage of the EAD. The LGD is further explained in note 30.1.1.

When estimating the ECLs, the Bank considers three scenarios (a base case, an upside,
downside (‘average base’)). When relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios also
incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability
that the loans will cure and the value of collateral or the amount that might be received
for selling the asset. 

The maximum period for which the credit losses are determined is the contractual life of
a financial instrument unless the Bank has the legal right to call it earlier. 

When estimating LTECLs for undrawn loan commitments, the Bank estimates the
expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn down over its expected life.
The ECL is then based on the present value of the expected shortfalls in cash flows if the
loan is drawn down, based on a probability-weighting of the three scenarios. The
expected cash shortfalls are discounted at an approximation to the expected EIR on the
loan. For revolving facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment, ECLs
are calculated and presented together with the loan. For loan commitments the ECL is
recognized within provisions, as disclosed in note 15.2 to the financial statements.

The Bank estimates ECLs based on the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs. The shortfalls are discounted by the
risk-adjusted interest rate relevant to the exposure. The calculation is made using a
probability-weighting of the three scenarios. The ECLs related to financial guarantee
contracts are recognized within provisions, as disclosed in note 15.2 to the financial statements.
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5.6.4.3 Revolving facilities

The calculation of ECLs, including the estimation of the expected period of exposure and
discount rate is made on a collective basis for the lending products. The collective
assessments are made separately for portfolios of facilities with similar credit risk
characteristics.

The ongoing assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for
revolving facilities is similar to other lending products. 

For revolving facilities, the Bank does not limit its exposure to credit losses to the
contractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECL over a period that reflects the
Bank’s expectations of the customer behavior, its likelihood of default and the Bank’s
future risk mitigation procedures, which could include reducing or cancelling the facilities.
Based on past experience and the Bank’s expectations, the period over which the Bank
calculates ECLs for these products, is one year. 

5.6.4.4 Forward looking information

-  GDP growth
-  Unemployment rates
-  Consumer price indices

5.6.5 Impairment provision under local regulations

Loans and advances to customers 

i)

ii)

iii)

iv)

In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward looking information as
economic inputs, such as:

The outstanding principal of the advances are classified in accordance with the Asset
Classification and Provisioning Regulation issued by DAB as follows:

Standard: These are loans and advances, which are paying in a current manner and are
supported by sound net worth and paying capability of the borrower. In terms of policy of
the Bank for more prudent approach, a general risk based provision is maintained in the
books of accounts at the rate of 4.98% (2017: 4.98%) of value of such loans and advances.
However, as per Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulation (ACPR) issued by DAB, 1%
optional provision can be maintained of value of such loans and advances.

Watch: These are loans and advances which are adequately protected, but are potentially
weak. All loans and advances where principal or interest payments are past due by 31 to 60
days are classified as watch-list. Such advances constitute an unwarranted credit risk, but
not to the point of requiring a classification to Substandard. A provision is maintained in the
books of account @ 5% (2017: 5%) of value of such loans and advances as required under
ACPR issued by DAB.

Substandard: These are loans and advances which are inadequately protected by current
sound net worth and paying capacity of the borrower or by the collateral, if any, supporting
it. Further, all microfinance loans and advances which are past due by 61 to 90 days and
other loans past due by 61 to 120 days in case of for principal or interest payments are
classified as “Substandard”. A provision is maintained in the books of account @ 25% of value 
of such loans and advances as per ACPR issued by DAB.

Doubtful: These are loans and advances which can be classified as Substandard and have
added characteristic that these weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis
of current circumstances and values, highly questionable and improbable. Further, all
microfinance loans and advances which are past due by 91 to 180 days and other loans past
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v)

vi)

Placements and other assets

Off-balance sheet item

due by 121 to 480 days for principal or interest payments are required to be classified as
“Doubtful” as per the ACPR issued by DAB. A provision is maintained in the books of account
@ 50% of value of such loans and advances as per Bank's risk based approach.

Loss: These are loans and advances which are not collectible and or such little value that
their continuance as a bankable asset is not warranted. Further, all microfinance loans and
advances which are past due over 180 days and other loans which are past due over 480
days for principal or interest payments are required to be classified as “Loss” as per the ACPR
issued by DAB. Bank can maintain loss assets in the books for a period of 12 months after
which the loans should be immediately written off against provisions made.

Rescheduled: Rescheduled loans and advances are fully provided as per provisioning policy
of the bank and funding covenant requirements.

The Bank has a policy of maintaining general provision on off-balance sheet items based on the 
review of the portfolio, Bank also determine provision for expected credit losses under IFRS 9 the 
financial statements are incorporated with higher provision impact resulting from the mentioned 
methods, as disclosed in note 15.2 to the financial statements.

The Bank has a policy of maintaining general provision on placements based on the review of the 
portfolio, Bank also determine provision for expected credit losses under IFRS 9, the financial 
statements are incorporated with higher provision impact resulting from the mentioned 
methods, as disclosed in note 6.3.3 and note 7.3 to the financial statements.

5.6.6 Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable before 01 January 2018)

Loans and advances

a) Assets carried at amortized cost except for loans and advances to customers

- Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
-

- Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
- Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
- Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position;
- Deterioration in the value of collateral; and
- Downgrading below investment grade level.

The policy for making provision against loan and advances was similar to one disclosed in note
5.6.5 above.

The Bank assessesat each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is an objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an
impairment loss include:

Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (for example, equity ratio, net
income percentage of sales);
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5.7 Financial liabilities

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities in following categories.

a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

b) Other financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

5.8 Fair value measurement

The amount of loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognized (such as and improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously
recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount
of reversal is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in impairment change
for credit losses.

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active
market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are financial liabilities held for trading. A
financial liability is classified in this category if incurred principally for the purpose of trading or
payment in the short term. Derivatives (if any) are also categorized as held for trading unless
they are designated as hedges.

These are non-derivatives financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. These are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred and are subsequently stated at amortized cost; any differences between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the income statement.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that maximizes
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable input of all the factors that
market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the
transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank determines that
the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced
neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable markets, the financial instrument is initially measured at
fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the
transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profit and loss in an appropriate basis
over the life of the instrument but no later than when valuation is wholly supported by observable  market
data or transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank measures
assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short position at an ask price.

Portfolio of financial assets and financial liabilitiesthat are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are
managed by the Bank on the basis of the net exposure to either market risk or credit risk or measured
on the basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long position (or paid to transfer a net short
position) for a particular risk exposure. Those portfolio-level adjustments are allocated to the individual
assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each of the individual instruments in the
portfolio. 
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5.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position.

5.10 Loans and advances

5.11 Investment securities

5.11.1 Held-to-maturity

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with central
bank and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of 3 months or less from the date of
acquisition that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in
the management of its short-term commitments.

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and that the Bank does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.
Loans and advances to customers are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and
subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus, in case of investment securities not at fair
value through profit or loss, incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently accounted for
depending on their classification as either held to maturity, fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale.

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold till maturity, and which are
not designated at fair value through profit or loss or as available-for-sale.

Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment losses. A sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-
to-maturity investments would result in the classification of all held-to-maturity investments as
available-for-sale, and would prevent the Bank from classifying investment securities as held-to-
maturity for the current and the following two financial years. However, sales and
reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not trigger a reclassification:

The Bank recognizes transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

-

-

-

5.12 Property and equipment

5.12.1 Recognition and measurement

sales or reclassifications that is attributable to non-recurring isolated events beyond the
Bank’s control that could not have been reasonably anticipated.

sales or reclassifications after the Bank has collected substantially all of the asset’s original
principal; and

sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that changes in the market rate of
interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value;

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as
part of that equipment.
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5.12.2 Subsequent costs

5.12.3 Depreciation

2018 2017

Leasehold improvements 5 years 5 years
Furniture and fittings 5 years 5 years
Vehicles 5 years 5 years
Office equipments 4 years 4 years
Computer equipments 3 years 3 years

5.13 Intangible assets

5.13.1 Software

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic benefits
of the expenditure will flow to the Bank. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment less their
estimated residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is
recognized in profit or loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and 
their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Bank will obtain ownership by the end of
the lease term. The estimated useful lives of significant items of property and equipment are as follows: 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

Software acquired by the Bank is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures are
expensed as incurred.

Software is amortized on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over its estimated useful life, from
the date on which it is available for use. The estimated useful life of software for the current and
comparative periods is five years.

Any gain or loss of disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognized within other
income in profit or loss.

If significant parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.

5.14 Impairment of non-financial assets 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

At each reporting date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets (other
than deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.
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5.15 Deposits and borrowings

5.16 Provisions

5.17 Financial guarantees

5.18 Earnings per share (EPS)

5.19 Grants

5.19.1 Revenue grants

5.19.2 Capital grants

Grants are recognized at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Bank will comply with all the required conditions.

Grants relating to costs are recognized as income over the period necessary to match these
grants with the related costs that they are intended to compensate. Fixed obligation grants are
recognized when the right to receive the grant has been established on achievement of certain
milestones as stated in the grant agreement.

Grants for property and equipment are recorded as deferred grants in the statement of financial
position and recognized as non-operating income on a systematic basis over the useful life of
assets acquired from the grant.

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. 

The ‘recoverable amount’ of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
‘Value in use’ is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. 

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation and amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

Deposits and borrowings are the Bank’s sourcing of loan financing. Deposits and borrowings are initially
measured at fair value minus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their
amortized cost using the effective interest method, except where the Bank designates liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument. 

The Bank presents basic EPS data for its ordinary shares. EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
that is attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period.



Annual Report 201850

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash on hand 336,842 326,292
Unrestricted balances with Da Afghanistan Bank 6.1 1,189,926 1,851,463
Balances with other banks 6.2 638,172 1,559,050
Short term placements with banks 6.3 2,424,896 2,061,380

4,589,836 5,798,185

6.1 Unrestricted balances with Da Afghanistan Bank

Local currency
Current accounts 166,248

       

279,430
Overnight deposit account 6.1.1 665,682

        

1,048,579
831,930

 

1,328,009
Foreign currency
Current accounts 6.1.2 357,996

        

523,454

1,189,926

    

1,851,463

6.1.1 This represents interest bearing account carrying interest at 0.10% (2017: 0.10%) per annum.

6.1.2 These represent current accounts with Da Afghanistan Bank (DAB) in USD and Euro currencies.

6.2 Balances with other banks

Balances with:
Habib Bank Limited, Brussels -

                
462,926

Bank Alfalah Limited, Kabul 24

                 
22,808

BMCE Bank International, Spain 620,480
       

318,076
AKTIF Bank, Turkey 17,668           755,240

6.2.1 638,172  1,559,050

6.2.1

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

6.3 Short term placements with banks

Capital notes 6.3.1 349,931

       

399,989
Time deposits with other banks - net 6.3.2 2,074,965 1,661,391

2,424,896 2,061,380

6.3.1

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------

These represent capital notes issued by Da Afghanistan Bank having maturity of 07 to 28 days (2017: 07
days). These capital notes carry interest rates ranging from 0.151% to 0.340% (2017: 0.140%) per annum.

These balances are interest free. The balances held with related parties amounted to Nil (2017: Afn.462,926
thousands).
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6.3.2.3

6.3.2.4

6.3.3

6.3.4 Impairment on short-term placements

6.3.4.1

6.3.4.2

Internal Rating Grade Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total

Performing
Investment Grade 2,207,856

  

-

              

-

              

2,207,856

 

1,653,869
Non - Investment Grade -

              

229,225

      

-

              

229,225

 

417,960
Non - performing -

              
-

              
-

              
-

 
-

Total 2,207,856
  

229,225
      

-
              

2,437,081
 

2,071,829

ECL Impact (14)               (30)              -              (44)                 (969)
Additional regulatory 

provision held -              -              -              (12,141)  (9,480)
(14)

              
(30) - (12,185) (10,449)

Net Total 2,207,842 229,195 - 2,424,896 2,061,380

These deposits have maturity of 19 to 40 days (2017: Nil) and carry interest rate of 1.95% to 2.40%
(2017: Nil) per annum.

------------------------------------------ (Afn in '000) --------------------------------------

This deposit has maturity of 37 days (2017: 34 to 55 days) and carries interest rate of 1.70% (2017:
1.28% to 1.38% Nil) per annum. This time deposits is placed with a related party.

IFRS 9 expected credit loss computed on above placements amounts to Afn.43.542 thousand as at
31 December 2018. The provision under Assets Classification and Provisioning Regulation (ACPR)
issued by DAB and Bank's provisioning policy is higher than IFRS 9 ECL, therefore, the Bank has
maintained the higher provision.

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk for categories
based on the Bank’s credit rating grades and year-end stage classification as at 31 December 2018
and 2017, respectively. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.

31 December
2018

31 December
2017

The provision for expected credit losses on placements as per IFRS 9 amounted to Afn.44 thousands, which
is lower than the one resulting from the requirements of Assets Classification and Provisioning Regulation
(ACPR) issued by DAB and Bank's provisioning policy. Accordingly, the Bank has maintained higher provision.

   31 December 31 December
2018 2017

6.3.2 Time deposits with other banks - net

Diamond Trust Bank, Kenya 6.3.2.1 1,068,115

 

1,044,900
Habib Bank Limited, Brussels 6.3.2.2 338,490

       

-
BMCE Bank International, Spain 6.3.2.3 451,320

        

-
Habibsons Bank Limited, UK 6.3.2.4 229,225 417,960
AKTIF Bank, Turkey - 208,980
Less: General provision held 6.3.3 (12,185) (10,449)

2,074,965 1,661,391

6.3.2.1

6.3.2.2 These deposits have maturity ranging from 28 to 86 days (2017: Nil) and carry interest rate ranging
from 2.20% to 2.40% (2017: Nil) per annum. These time deposits are placed with a related party.

These deposits have maturity ranging from 27 to 35 days (2017: 19 to 39 days) and carry interest rate
of 2.50% (2017: 2.45%) per annum. These time deposits are placed with a related party.

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------



Annual Report 201852

7.4 Impairment on placements

7.4.1

7.4.2

Internal Rating Grade Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total

Performing
Not yet due         150,440         248,227 - 398,667          303,021 
Non - performing -

                

-

                

-

                

- -
Total 150,440

       

248,227

       

-

                

398,667 303,021

ECL Impact -

                

(11)

                 

-

                

(11) -
Additional regulatory provision held -

                

-

                

-

                

(3,976) (3,030)
-

                

(11)

                 

-

                

(3,987) (3,030)

Net Total 150,440

 

248,216

       

-

                

394,680 299,991

 
 

------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) -------------------------------------------

IFRS 9 expected credit loss computed on above placements amounts to Afn.11.341 thousand as at 31 December 2018. The provision
under Assets Classification and Provisioning Regulation (ACPR) issued by DAB and Bank's provisioning policy is higher than IFRS 9 ECL,
therefore, the Bank has maintained the higher provision.

31 December
2018

31 December
2017

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk for categories based on the Bank’s credit rating
grades and year-end stage classification as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The amounts presented are gross of
impairment allowances.

                         31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
7. Placements - Net

Capital notes issued by DAB 7.1 449,160

       

99,876
Time deposits with other banks - net 7.2 394,680

       

299,991
843,840

       

399,867

7.1

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
7.2 Time deposits with other banks - net

AKTIF Bank, Turkey 7.2.1         248,227                    -   
Habib Bank Limited, Brussels 7.2.2         150,440          303,021 
Less: General provision held 7.3            (3,987)             (3,030)

        394,680          299,991 

7.3 General provision of 1% (2017: 1%) held on placements above 30 days (2017: above 30 days), in accordance with
revised "Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulation (ACPR)" issued by DAB.

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------

These represent capital notes issued by DAB for maturity period ranging from 91 to 184 days (2017: 91 days). These
capital notes carry interest rate ranging from 0.499% to 0.910% (2017: 0.49%) per annum.

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------

This deposit has maturity of 92 days (2017: Nil) and carry interest rate of 3.95% (2017: Nil) per annum.

These deposits have maturity of 91 to 180 days (2017: 91 to 182 days) and carry interest rate ranging from
2.40% to 2.50% (2017: 1.50% to 1.55%) per annum. These time deposits are placed with a related party.

7.2.1

7.2.2
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8.1 Loans and advances to customers

 Gross 
amount 

 Impairment 
allowance 

 Carrying 
amount 

 Gross 
amount 

 Impairment 
allowance 

 Carrying 
amount 

Note

Microfinance loans 8.1.1 4,930,469
 

(339,736)
 

4,590,733
   

4,539,924
     
(235,595) 4,304,329

Loans to small and medium
size enterprises (SME) 8.1.2 1,126,768  (82,668) 1,044,100   826,252         (62,088) 764,164

Overdraft financing 8.1.3 239,157

      
(5,292)

 
233,865

        
126,876

       
(4,085) 122,791

6,296,394

  
(427,696)

      
5,868,698

    
5,493,052

     
(301,768) 5,191,284

8.1.1

8.1.2

8.1.3

8.1.4

8.2 Allowance for impairment loss on loans and advances to customers

Specific General Total Specific General Total
Note

Opening 36,819 264,949 301,768 57,711 236,549 294,260

Charge for the year: 
Microfinance loans 90,958 13,784 104,742 41,205 32,502 73,707
Loans to small and medium

size enterprises 8,044 15,417 23,461 (4,386) (497) (4,883)
99,002 29,201 128,203 36,819 32,005 68,824

Written off against impairment allowance:

Microfinance loans (716) - (716) (38,786) (3,605) (42,391)
Loans to small and medium (1,559) - (1,559)

size enterprises - - - (18,925) - (18,925)
8.2.1 (2,275) - (2,275) (57,711) (3,605) (61,316)

Closing 133,546 294,150 427,696 36,819 264,949 301,768

8.2.1 These represent 'loss' category loans which have been written off in accordance with the Asset Classification and Provisioning
Regulation (ACPR) issued by DAB. However, the write-off does not affect the Bank's right to recover the debt due from customers and
does not eliminate the borrowers' responsibility to repay the loan.

----------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) -------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) -------------------------------------------

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Microfinance loans carry interest at rates ranging from 9% to 27% (2017: 12% to 27%) per annum. These loans are secured by various
kind of properties and personal guarantees.

The provision for expected credit losses on Loans and Advances as per IFRS 9 amounted to Afn.338,113.455 thousands, which is lower
from the one resulting from the requirements of Assets Classification and Provisioning Regulation (ACPR) issued by DAB and Bank's
provisioning policy. Accordingly, the Bank has maintained higher provision.

Overdraft financing carry interest rates ranging from 13% to 18% (2017: 9.25% to 20%) per annum. These loans are secured by
various kind of properties and personal guarantees. Overdraft is issued to Telecom Development Company Afghanistan Limited
(TDCA), a related party and 21 other customers.

Interest on loans to small and medium size enterprises(SMEs) is charged at the rates ranging from 6.6% to 23% (2017: 16.2% to 23%)
per annum. These loans are secured by various kind of properties and personal guarantees.

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
8. Loans and advances to customers - net

Loans and advances to customers 8.1 6,296,394 5,493,052
Less: Allowance for impairment loss on loans and advances to customers 8.2 (427,696) (301,768)

5,868,698 5,191,284

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------
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8.3 Allowance for impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers

8.3.1

31 December 2017
Internal Rating Grade Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Collective Collective Collective

Performing
Not yet due 6,043,515 1,602 - 6,045,117 5,277,231
Past due but not impaired 2,947 90,569 - 93,516 54,892
Non-performing -

               

- 157,761 157,761 160,929
Total 6,046,462

  

92,171 157,761 6,296,394

  

5,493,052

ECL Impact (156,217)

     

(24,135)

       

(157,761)

     

(338,113)

     

(197,086)
Additional Provision held as per Bank's provisioning policy -

               

-

               

-

               

(89,583)

       

(104,682)
Net Total 5,890,245 68,036 - 5,868,698

   

5,191,284

8.4

31 December 2018 (Afn in '000) Rate (Afn in '000) Rate (Afn in '000)
Classification - Microfinance Loans

Standard 4,784,605

  

1% 47,846

        

4.98% 238,273

     

64,519

Overdue:
Watch-List 16,956

         

5% 848

              

5% 848

             

209
Substandard 15,105

         

25% 3,776

          

25% 3,777

         

172
Doubtful 33,930

        

50% 16,965

        

50% 16,965

        

410
Loss 79,308

        
100% 79,308

       
100% 79,308

        
967

Rescheduled 565
              

100% 565
              

100% 565
             

7
4,930,469  149,308      339,736       66,284

Classification - Overdraft and SME Loans
Standard - SME Loans 1,076,694

  
1% 10,767

        
4.98% 53,620

        
532

Standard - Overdraft financing 225,803

      

1% 2,258

           

1.00% 2,257

          

19

Overdue:
Watch-List - SME loans 3,864

          

5% 193

              

5% 193

             

3
Watch-List - Overdraft financing 8,095

           

5% 405

              

5% 405

             

1
Substandard - SME loans 5,747

          

25% 1,437

         

25% 1,437

         

3
Substandard - Overdraft financing -

               

25% -

               

25% -

              

-
Doubtful - SME loans 26,090 50% 13,045 50% 13,045 12
Doubtful - Overdraft financing 5,258 50% 2,629 50% 2,629 1
Loss - SME loans 7,241 100% 7,241 100% 7,241 12
Rescheduled - SME loans 7,133 100% 7,133 100% 7,133 7

1,365,925 45,108 87,960 590

Classification of loans and advances for the purpose of allowance for impairment in accordance with the Bank's provisioning policy and the
DAB Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulation is as follows:

IFRS 9 expected credit loss computed on above Loans and Advances to Customers amounts to Afn.338,113,455 as at 31 December
2018. The provision under Assets Classification and Provisioning Regulation (ACPR) issued by DAB and Bank's provisioning policy is
higher than IFRS 9 ECL, therefore, the Bank has maintained the higher provision.

 Amount 
outstanding 

 Impairment allowance 
required as per ACPR 

 Impairment allowance 
held Number of 

customers

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk for categories based on the Bank’s credit rating
grades and year-end stage classification as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

---------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) ----------------------------------------

Total Total

31 December 2018
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(Afn in '000) Rate (Afn in '000) (Afn in '000)
31 December 2017
Classification - Microfinance Loans
Standard 4,505,480

   

1% 45,055

         

4.98% 224,373

       

60,856
Overdue:

Watch-List 10,814

        

5% 541

              

5% 540

             

170
Substandard 6,912 25% 1,728 25% 1,728 94
Doubtful 15,529 50% 7,765 50% 7,765 198
Rescheduled 1,189 100% 1,189 100% 1,189 20

4,539,924 56,278 235,595 61,338

Classification - Overdraft and SME Loans
Standard - SME Loans 793,876 1% 7,939 4.98% 39,536 584
Standard - Overdraft financing 103,959 1% 1,040 1.00% 1,040 6
Overdue:

Watch-List - SME loans 30 5% 2 5% 3 1
Watch-List - Overdraft financing 13,417 5% 671 5% 671 1
Substandard - SME loans 8,972 25% 2,243 25% 2,243 6
Substandard - Overdraft financing 9,500 25% 2,375 25% 2,375 2
Doubtful - SME loans 6,132 50% 3,066 50% 3,063 17
Rescheduled - SME loans 17,242 100% 17,242 100% 17,242 20

953,128 34,578 66,173 637

 Impairment allowance 
held Number of 

customers

 Amount 
outstanding 

 Impairment allowance 
required as per ACPR 

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
9. Operating fixed assets

Capital work-in-progress - (computer software) 9.1 21,503 3,913
Property and equipment 9.2 77,122 73,243

98,625 77,156

9.1 Capital work-in-progress - (computer software) (Afn in '000)

Balance as at 31 December 2016 102,599
Advances made during the year 24,914
Transfer to intangible assets (123,600)
Balance as at 31 December 2017 3,913
Advances made during the year 17,590
Transfer to intangible assets -
Balance as at 31 December 2018 21,503

                                                          
              

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------
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9.2 Property and equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture and 
fittings Vehicles

Office 
equipments

Computer 
equipments Total

Cost
Balance at 01 January 2017 44,416 31,787 22,002 80,287 59,361 237,853
Additions 4,500 3,608 2,166 7,281 25,230 42,785
Disposals (37)

                    

(877)

                

-

                

(936)

                

(1,640)

          

(3,490)
Balance at 31 December 2017 48,879

             

34,518

            

24,168

          

86,632

            

82,951

          

277,148

Balance at 01 January 2018 48,879

            

34,518

            

24,168

         

86,632

 

82,951

         

277,148
Additions 7,230

               

7,725

              

24

                 

15,626

 

6,492

           

37,097
Disposals (342)

                

(885)

                

-

                

(6,424)

 

(6,509)

          

(14,160)
Balance at 31 December 2018 55,767

             

41,358

            

24,192

         

95,834

 

82,934

         

300,085

Depreciation
Balance at 01 January 2017 36,211

              
25,913

             
13,287
         

51,918
 

51,268
          

178,597
Charge for the year 3,464

               
2,707

               
2,623

           
11,737

 
8,244

            
28,775

Disposals (36)                    (863)                -                (928)  (1,640)           (3,467)
Balance at 31 December 2017 39,639             27,757             15,910         62,727  57,872           203,905

Balance at 1 January 2018 39,639

             

27,757

            

15,910

         

62,727

 

57,872

         

203,905
Charge for the year 3,602

              

2,893 2,915 11,739 11,674 32,823
Disposals (342)

                 

(875)

                

-

                

(6,041)

 

(6,507)

          

(13,765)
Balance at 31 December 2018 42,899

            

29,775

            

18,825

         

68,425

 

63,039

         

222,963

Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 December 2017 9,240

              

6,761

              

8,258

            

23,905

            

25,079

          

73,243
Balance at 31 December 2018 12,868

             

11,583

            

5,367

            

27,409 19,895

         

77,122

Depreciation rate 20% 20% 20% 25% 33.33%

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
9.3 Allocation of depreciation

Depreciation charged for the year 32,823 28,775
Less: Amount classified under grant expense 25 (1,450)

          

(2,350)
31,373

         

26,425

10. Intangible Assets

Computer software:
Cost

Opening 153,753 20,999
Acquisitions software - 343
Transfer from CWIP - 123,600
Additions CBS 10,876 8,811
Closing 164,629 153,753

Amortisation
Opening (35,732) (20,617)
Charge for the year software (188) (186)
Charge for the year CBS (28,037) (14,929)
Closing (63,957) (35,732)

Carrying amounts at 31 December 100,672 118,021

------ (Afn in '000) ------

---------------------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) --------------------------------------------------------
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31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
11. Other assets

Restricted deposits with DAB 11.1 606,118 635,459
Interest receivable 271,182 263,382
Prepayments 53,671 24,962
Receivable from Roshan against M-Paisa payments 56,852 33,070
Advances to staff 11.2 5,915

             

3,902
Grant receivable 2,317

            

-
Others 1,288

           

6,450
997,343

       

967,225
Less: Allowance for impairment losses 11.3 (395)

               

(3,318)
996,948

       

963,907

11.1 Restricted deposits with DAB

In local currency 187,882

        

179,252
In foreign currency 418,236

        

456,207
11.1.1 606,118

        

635,459

11.1.1

11.2

11.3

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
12. Deposits from customers

Retail customers
Term deposits 12.1 52,959

          

16,031
Current deposits 660,512

        

675,675
Saving deposits 12.2 2,412,419

    

2,211,172

Corporate customers
Term deposits 12.3 1,240,000

    

545,691
Current deposits 3,093,759

   

3,689,426
Saving deposits 12.4 166,961 337,023

Cash Margin 42,771 94,232
Dormant deposits 113 7,831

12.5 7,669,494 7,577,081

-------- (Afn in '000) --------

Required reserve account is being maintained with DAB which is denominated in respective
currencies to meet minimum reserve requirement in accordance with Article 3 "Required Reserves
Regulation" of the Banking Regulations issued by DAB. These balances are interest free.

--------- (Afn in '000) ---------

The provision for expected credit losses as per IFRS 9 amounted to Afn.3.54 thousands, which is lower from
the one resulting from the requirements of Assets Classification and Provisioning Regulation (ACPR) issued
by DAB and Bank's provisioning policy. Accordingly, the Bank has maintained higher provision.

These include advance given to staff against salary, business travelling and others. These advances are not
secured.
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12.1

12.2

12.3

12.4

12.5 Deposits include Afn.1,439,044 thousands (2017: Afn.1,831,402 thousands) from related parties.

The rate of interest on saving deposits other than those in Euro from retail customers is upto 0.5% (2017:
upto 0.5%) per annum. Saving deposits in Euro are interest free.

The rate of interest on saving deposits other than those in Euros from corporate customers is 0.5% (2017:
0.5%) per annum. Saving deposits in Euro are interest free.

The rate of interest on term deposits with corporate customers ranges from 0.60% to 5% (2017: 0.60% to
4.5%) per annum.

The rate of interest on term deposits from retail customers ranges from 0.50% to 5% (2017: 0.50% to
4.5%) per annum.

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
13. Loans and borrowings

Loans and borrowings from:
Ministry of Finance, Government of Afghanistan 13.1 242,806 291,477
Microfinance Investment Support Facility for Afghanistan Limited 13.2 1,598,401 1,963,401
Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij Voor 13.3 341,708

       

341,708
Agricultural Development Fund 13.4 139,286

        

195,000
International Fund for Agricultural Development 13.5 264,598 -

2,586,799

    

2,791,586

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
13.1 Ministry of Finance, Government of Afghanistan

FMFB Credit Line 13.1.1 44,446

         

66,669
FMFB Credit Line II 13.1.2 198,360

        

224,808
242,806

       

291,477

13.1.1

13.1.2

------ (Afn in '000) ------

On 29th October 2008, the Bank entered into another financing and project agreement (FMFB Credit Line II),
for 15 years with 5 years grace period for principal repayment, between the above parties. The purpose of the
credit line is to support the development of the Bank through the expansion of its lending business. The total
principal of the facility agreed was Euro 4,000 thousands (equivalent Afn.264,480 thousands) at an annual
interest rate of 5% per annum payable in arrears which was revised to 6%. This loan is repayable through 20 bi-
annual installments, starting from June 2016.

On 17th November 2005, the Bank entered into a financing and project agreement (FMFB Credit Line), for 15
years with 5 years grace period for principal repayment, with Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau, Frankfurt am
Main (KfW) and the Ministry of Finance of the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan (MOF). The purpose of the
credit line is to support the development of the Bank through the expansion of its lending business. The total
principle of the facility agreed was Euro 3,500 thousand (equivalent Afn. 222,000 thousands) which was
disbursed in 3 tranches amounting to Euro 2,000 thousands, Euro 1,300 thousands and Euro 200 thousands
carrying financial charges at the rate of 3.54% per annum, 3.53% per annum and 3.53% per annum,
respectively. The tranche of Euro 2,000 thousands was prematurely repaid on 28 December 2016. The above
rates were revised during 2018 to 0.35% per annum for Euro 1,300 thousands tranche and 0.34% for Euro
200 thousands tranche per annum based on the change in the weighted average rate for the 5 latest 28 days
capital notes as auctioned by DAB. The loan is repayable through 20 bi-annual installments, starting from 17th 
November 2010. 

------ (Afn in '000) ------
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31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
13.2 Microfinance Investment Support Facility for Afghanistan Limited

MISFA I 13.2.1 285,000 475,000
MISFA II 13.2.2 345,000

        

445,000
MISFA III 13.2.3 425,000

        

500,000
MISFA/KfW IV 13.2.4 244,194

       

244,194
MISFA/KfW V 13.2.4 299,207

        

299,207
13.2.5 1,598,401

     

1,963,401

13.2.1 The Bank entered into a novation and loan agreement (MISFA I) via agreement No. M8902 dated 3rd October
2010 with Microfinance Investment Support Facility for Afghanistan Limited (MISFA) under which MISFA
consolidated all the loans provided to the Bank to an aggregate amount of Afn.950,000 thousands for a
period of 10 years with 5 years grace period for principal repayment. The purpose of the loan is to support and
grow the Bank’s SME and Microfinance portfolio and activities. This loan agreement carries interest at the rate
of 5% per annum effective from 1st July 2010. Loan is repayable through 20 quarterly installments, starting
from 1st September 2015.

------ (Afn in '000) ------

13.2.2

13.2.3

13.2.4

13.2.5

The Bank signed a further loan agreement (MISFA III) via agreement No. M9105 dated 20th March 2013 with
MISFA for an amount of Afn.500,000 thousands for a period of 10 years with 5 years grace period for principal
repayment. The total facility was disbursed in four tranches as per the terms of the aforementioned
agreement of Afn.120,000 thousand, Afn.130,000 thousand, Afn.130,000 thousand and Afn.120,000
thousand on 2nd April 2012, 4th May 2013, 29th June 2013 and 5th August 2013, respectively. The purpose of
the loan is to grow the microfinance and SME loan portfolio of Bank. This loan agreement carries interest rate
of 6% per annum effective from 30th June 2013. The loan is repayable through 20 quarterly installments,
starting from 30th June 2017, and was fully drawn on 5th August 2013.

The Bank entered into a financing and project agreement for a period of 10 years with 5 years grace period for
principal repayment amounting for Euro 7,750 thousand dated 19th December 2013 with Kreditanstalt fur
Wiederaufbau, Frankfurt am Main (KfW), the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan (IROA) represented by the
Ministry of Finance (MOF) and Microfinance Investment Support Facility for Afghanistan Limited (MISFA). The
loan was disbursed in 2 tranches, as agreed in a separate agreement dated 15th July 2014 between the Bank
and KfW, on 17th March 2015 and 28th October 2017 of Euro 4,000 thousand (MISFA/KfW IV) and 3,750
thousand (MISFA/KfW V), respectively, carrying financial charges at the rate of 6% per annum effective from
31st March 2015. Both tranches are repayable through 20 bi-annual installments, starting from 31st March
2020 and 31st December 2022, respectively.

The total outstanding loan facilities from MISFA of Afn.1,598,401 thousands are supported by promissory
notes issued by the Bank to MISFA. As a security for these promissory notes the Bank has assigned all rights
and interests in the whole or such portion of the Bank's loan portfolio as MISFA may select in its sole
discretion up to the amount of the loans outstanding under the loan agreements.

The Bank signed a further loan agreement (MISFA II) via agreement No. M9102 dated 17th June 2012 with
MISFA for an amount of Afn.500,000 thousands for a period of 10 years with 5 years grace period for principal
repayment. The total facility was disbursed in four tranches as per the terms of the aforementioned
agreement of Afn.212,000 thousand, Afn.38,000 thousand, Afn.100,000 thousand and Afn.150,000
thousand on 19th June 2012, 29th June 2013, 9th August 2012 and 25th November 2012, respectively. The
purpose of the loan is to grow the microfinance and SME loan portfolio of Bank. This loan agreement carries
interest rate of 6% per annum effective from 30th June 2012. The loan is repayable through 20 quarterly
installments, starting from 30th June 2017, and was fully drawn on 25th November 2012.
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13.3

13.4

13.5

13.6

In September 2017, a 10 year term loan with 6 years grace period for principal repayment of USD 7,000
thousand disbursable in tranches, the Bank entered into a subsidiary loan agreement by Islamic Republic of
Afghanistan with Ministry of Finance (MOF) through Ministry of Agricultural, Irrigation and Livestock of
Afghanistan (MAIL). The first tranche of the loan of USD 3,500 thousand (equivalent to Afn.264,598
thousand) was disbursed on 2nd October 2018 carrying financial charges at the rate of 0.5% per annum. The
loan is repayable through 8 bi-annual installments with 1st installment due on 15th April 2019. The loan is
secured through a demand promissory note and loan portfolio up to the principal of the loan.

The Bank has not had any default of principal or interest with respect to its loans and borrowings during the
year ended 31 December 2018. 

A 5-year credit line of Afn.195,000 thousands was obtained from Agricultural Development Fund (ADF)
through Ministry of Agricultural, Irrigation and Livestock of Afghanistan (MAIL) under an agreement signed on
2nd March 2016. The purpose of the facility is to fund agri-lending and provide access to credit for clientele in
agricultural value chain. The credit line carries an interest rate of 5% per annum. The loan is repayable through
6 bi-annual installments and the principal repayment has two years grace period with 1st installment due on
6th April 2018. As a security for the loan, the Bank has assigned a valid second priority right in favor of
Agriculture Development Fund in respect of Bank's loan portfolio up to the amount of the loans outstanding
under the loan agreement.

On 25 July 2017, the Bank signed a term loan agreement for an amount of USD 5,000 thousand (equivalent to
Afn.341,708 thousand) with Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij Voor Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. (FMO)
for a period of 5 years with 1 year grace period for principal repayment. The purpose of the loan is to extend
SME and microfinance loans to eligible borrowers. The said loan was disbursed on 1st November 2017 having
interest rate 4% + the weighted average rate for the last five 28 days capital notes as auctioned by Da
Afghanistan Bank. This loan is not secured.

14. Deferred tax liabilities - net

14.1 Movement in deferred tax balances
Net balance 

at 01 
January

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss
Deferred 

tax liability
Deferred tax 

asset

Net balance 
at 31 

December
2018

Property and equipment (7,758) (59) (7,817) - (7,817)
Intangibles (9,218)

        

(8,718) (17,936) - (17,936)
Impairment loss on placements -

             

3,234 - 3,234 3,234
General provision held on

Other assets 664

             

(585)

             

-

             

79

                  

79
Off-balance sheet items 155

              

(155)

             

-

             

-

                

-
(16,157)

       

(6,283)

         

(25,753)

     

3,313

            

(22,440)

2017

Property and equipment (6,298)

         

(1,460)

         

(7,758)

       

-

                 

(7,758)
Intangibles (58)

               

(9,160)

         

(9,218)

       

-

                 

(9,218)
General provision held on

Other assets -

               

664

             

-

             

664

                

664
Off-balance sheet items -

               

155

              

-

             

155

                

155
(6,356)

          

(9,801)

         

(16,976)

      

819

                

(16,157)

-------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) --------------------------------------
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14.2 Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Rate Afn in '000 Rate Afn in '000

Profit before tax 117,237

    

288,507
Applicable tax at 20% 20.00% 23,447

      
20.00% 57,701

Inadmissible expenses 11.63% 13,638
      

3.15% 9,099
Depreciation and loss on disposal

of fixed assets and general provision -17.63% (20,674)     -6.67% (19,231)
Effect of previously unrecognised tax 53.67% 62,926      3.69% -
Deferred tax effect 5.36% 6,283       3.40% 9,801

73.03% 85,620
      

19.89% 57,370

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
15. Other liabilities

Accrued expenses 63,806

          

44,271
Interest payable 78,810

          

52,904
Performance bonus payable 21,876

          

22,369
Deferred grants 15.1 8,207

            

9,490
Withholding taxes payable 7,641

            

5,433
Other 1,841

            

4,697
General provision held against off-balance sheet items 15.2 -

                

777
182,181

        

139,941

15.1 Deferred grants MISFA AKF - USA KfW Total

Note 15.1.1 15.1.2 15.1.3
2018

Balance at 01 January 2018 1,644

          

4,489

       

3,357

            

9,490
Grants received during the year -

              

-

             

167

                

167
Grant amortized during the year (1,644) - 194 (1,450)
Balance at 31 December 2018 - 4,489 3,718 8,207

2017

Balance at 01 January 2017 2,170 5,598 3,529 11,297
Grants received during the year - - 8,539 8,539
Grant amortized during the year (526) (1,109) (8,711) (10,346)
Balance at 31 December 2017 1,644 4,489 3,357 9,490

------------------------ (Afn in '000) ------------------------

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

------ (Afn in '000) ------
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15.1.1

15.1.2

15.1.3

15.2

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

16. Share capital

Authorized
88,800 ordinary shares of US $ 177 each

(2017: 88,800 of US $ 177) 800,624

       

800,624

       

Paid up
88,288 ordinary shares of US $ 177 each

(2017; 88,288 of US $ 177) 796,008       796,008        

16.1 The capital is contributed by the shareholders as follows:

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017

Aga Khan Agency for Microfinance (AKAM) 34,784

         

34,784

           

310,646

       

310,646

       
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau (KfW) 28,200

 

28,200

           

254,811

       

254,811
International Finance Corporation (IFC) 14,800 14,800 133,974 133,974
Aga Khan Foundation USA (AKF USA) 10,504

          

10,504

           

96,577

          

96,577

          

88,288

          

88,288

          

796,008

       

796,008

       
16.2

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
17. Contingencies and commitments

17.1 Contingencies

Outstanding bank guarantees 19,150 66,757

17.2 Commitments

Undrawn loan and overdraft facilities 46,876 10,903

------ (Afn in '000) ------

------ (Afn in '000) ------

------ (Afn in '000) ------

This represents grant received from Microfinance Investment Support Facility for Afghanistan Limited
(MISFA) under an agreement signed dated 16 August 2011 to strengthen the Bank's capacity in rural and
agricultural financial products and services.

This includes grant received from Aga Khan Foundation (AKF) under an agreement signed dated 21 July
2014 to Strengthen Afghan Government and Alternative Livelihood (SAGAL) through promoting
alternative crops to poppy cultivation and development of value chain financing in agriculture sector.

This represents grant received from Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau (KfW) under an agreement signed
dated 26 October 2016 for establishment of "Women - only" branch in Kabul.

---- Number of shares ----

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Bank.

Represents Nil (2017: 1%) provision as required under Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulation
issued by DAB. 
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31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
18. Interest income

Cash and cash equivalents 30,205 46,578
Placements 23,745 24,262

Loans and advances to customers
Loans to small and medium size enterprises 214,197 203,750
Microfinance loans 1,125,518

    

1,141,086
Interest on overdraft facility 20,639

         

10,618
1,360,354

   

1,355,454

Others -

               

1,175
1,414,304

   

1,427,469

19. Interest expense

Deposits from customers 51,243

         

25,179
Loans and borrowings 143,836

      

138,844
195,079

       

164,023

20. Fee and commission income

Loan processing fee 69,850
         

61,038
Bank charges relating to foreign remittances and other services 20,497

       
30,500

90,347       91,538

21. Fee and commission expense

Bank charges 11,752
        

9,139
Others -

               
1,369

11,752 10,508

22. Other income

Unrealised exchange gain 11,415

         

7,067
Receipts against claims 19,788

        

-
Loans and advances written off recovered 17,852

        

17,288
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 278

              

142
Others -

               

840
49,333

       

25,337

23. Personnel expenses

Local staff 23.1 564,677

     

522,747
Expat staff 23.2 77,504

        

74,412
642,181

      

597,159
Less: Grant related salaries and benefits 25 (8,127)

          

(2,932)
634,054 594,227

23.1 Local staff

Basic salary 398,673 372,119
Other benefits 166,004 150,628

564,677 522,747

------ (Afn in '000) ------
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31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
23.2 Expat staff

Basic salary 54,289 52,843
Other benefits 23,215 21,569

77,504 74,412

24. Other expenses
Consultancy fee 4,202

               

16,447
Office rent 64,027

             

44,367
Communication 53,145

              

55,013
System maintenance 19,634

             

16,823
Generator fuel and maintenance 22,654

             

22,175
Insurance 50,498

             

38,427
Legal, professional and statutory fee 17,886

              

20,850
Auditors' remuneration 24.1 2,828

                

2,675
Office security 137,221

            

132,072
Office stationery and supplies 36,158

              

29,817
Other operating expenses 8,993

                

7,596
Repairs and maintenance 4,178

                

5,304
Travel and transportation 56,627

              

57,057
Director's expense 11,418

              
4,441

Trainings 14,259
              

10,253
Utilities 10,847             9,975
Marketing and promotional expenses 11,035              8,542
Miscellaneous 3,704               4

529,314
           

481,838
24.1 Auditors' remuneration

Annual audit fee 2,123

                

2,110
Interim review fee 705

                   

565
2,828

                

2,675
25. Expenditure against grants

Salaries and benefits 23 8,127

                

2,932
Office supplies -

                    

899
Security 1,569

                

1,433
Branding -

                    

954
Consultancy fee 1,556

                

724
Marketing 1,100

                

1,054
Depreciation and amortization 9.3 1,450

                

2,350
Perdiem 22

                     

-
13,824

             

10,346

26. Income tax expense
Current tax

For the year 16,411

              

47,569
Prior year 62,926

             

-
79,337 47,569

Deferred tax expense 14 6,283 9,801
85,620 57,370

27. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share 
Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders (Afn in '000) 31,617 231,138
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (numbers) 88,288 88,288
Basic earnings per share (Afn in '000) 0.36 2.62

------ (Afn in '000) ------
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28. Related parties

28.1 Parent and ultimate controlling entity

2018 2017
Note

28.2 Transactions with key management personnel

28.2.1 Key management personnel compensation

Short term employee benefits 28.2.1.1 71,268

              

65,879

28.2.1.1

28.2.2 Related party transactions

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017

Balances with related parties

Balances with banks -  -                -                    462,926
Time deposits with banks -  -                1,786,270       1,765,881
Advances 846

 
209

                
-

                    
-

Deposits from customers 3,219
 

1,316
            

1,435,855
       

1,790,981
Cash Margin against guarantees issued -

 
-

                
3,189

                
40,421

Loan to Telecom Development Company 
Afghanistan Limited (TDCA) -

 

-

                

89,465

             

83,138
Receivable from Roshan against M-Paisa 

payments -

                

-

                

56,852

              

33,070

2018 2017 2018 2017
Transactions with related parties

Interest income -

                

-

                

34,971

             

44,172
Fee and commission income -

                

-

                

7,277

                

6,254
Fee and commission expense -

                

-

                

5,622

                

2,129
Interest expense on deposits from customers -

                

-

                

7,008

                

8,955
Directors' fee and other expenses 11,418

          

4,441

            

-

                    

-

28.2.2.1

---------------------- (Afn in '000) ----------------------

The transactions were made on similar terms that would be applied arm's length transaction. No
impairment losses have been recorded against balances outstanding during the period with key
management personnel, and no specific allowance has been made for impairment losses on balances with
key management personnel and their immediate relatives at the reporting date. These balances are not
secured and no guarantees have been obtained.

Directors and other key 
management personnel 

(and close family members)
Shareholders and its 

associated companies

---------------------- (Afn in '000) ----------------------

------ (Afn in '000) ------

Related parties of the Bank comprise of associates (including entities having directors in common with the
Bank), major share holders, directors and key management personnel.

Directors and other key 
management personnel 

(and close family members)
Shareholders and its 

associated companies

Pattern of shareholding in the Bank is disclosed in note 16.1. Aga Khan Development Network entities
collectively owns 51% (2017: 51%) of the Bank's capital.

Compensation of the Bank’s key management personnel includes salaries and benefits.

in
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29. Financial assets and liabilities

Accounting classification of financial assets and financial liabilities and fair values

Note
31 December 2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 4,589,836

       
- 4,589,836

 
4,589,836

Placements 7 843,840

          
-

                   
843,840

          
843,840

Loans and advances to customers 8 5,868,698
       

-
                   

5,868,698
       

5,868,698
Other assets 11 -                  936,074         936,074           936,074

11,302,374 936,074         12,238,448  12,238,448
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 12 - 7,669,494

      
7,669,494

 
7,669,494

Loans and borrowings 13 - 2,586,799

       
2,586,799

 
2,586,799

Other liabilities 15 - 150,257

          

150,257

 

150,257
- 10,406,550

     

10,406,550

 

10,406,550
31 December 2017
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 5,798,185

 

-

                   

5,798,185

 

5,798,185
Placements 7 399,867

 

-

                   

399,867

 

399,867
Loans and advances to customers 8 5,191,284

 

-

                   

5,191,284

 

5,191,284
Other assets 11 -

 

928,593

          

928,593

 

928,593
11,389,336

      

928,593

           

12,317,929

      

12,317,929
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 12 - 7,577,081 7,577,081 7,577,081
Loans and borrowings 13 - 2,791,586 2,791,586 2,791,586
Other liabilities 15 - 102,608 102,608 102,608

- 10,471,275 10,471,275 10,471,275

The carrying amounts approximate fair values as most of the assets and liabilitieshave short maturities and are expected to
be recovered / settled at their carrying amounts.

Fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date.

Financial assets which are tradable in an open market are revalued at the market prices prevailing on the statement of
financial position date. The estimated fair value of all other financial assets and liabilities is considered not significantly different
from book value.

The table below sets out the Bank's classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities, and their fair values.

------------------------------- (Afn in '000) -------------------------------

Debt 
investments 
at amortized 

Other 
amortised 

cost
Total carrying 

amount Fair value

30. Financial risk management

a)  credit risk
b)  liquidity risk
c)  market risks
d)  operational and business risk

This note presents information about the Bank's exposure to financial risks, Bank's financial risk
management and the Bank's management of capital. The Bank has exposure to the following risks from 
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Risk management framework

30.1 Credit risk

30.1.1 Credit risk measurement

Impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Policy applicable from 01 January 2018)

Definition of default and cure

Credit ratings and PD estimation process

The Bank considers a financial instrument defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for ECL
calculations in all cases when the borrower becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments.
As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Bank also considers a
variety of instances that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Bank
carefully considers whether the event should result in treating the customer as defaulted and
therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL calculations or whether Stage 2 is appropriate.

It is the Bank’s policy to consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of
Stage 3 when none of the default criteria have been present for at least 3 consecutive months. The
decision whether to classify an asset as Stage 2 or Stage 1 once cured depends on the updated
credit profile, at the time of the cure, and whether this indicates there has been a significant increase
in credit risk compared to initial recognition. The Group is observing a probationary period of a
minimum of 3 instalments (for repayments which are on a quarterly basis or shorter) and 12 months
(in cases where instalments are on a longer frequency than quarterly) after the restructuring, before
upgrading from Stage 3 to 2.

PDs models of lending products are primarily driven by days past due. Estimated historical realized
default rates are adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate forward looking information and
the IFRS 9 Stage classification of the exposure. This is repeated for each economic scenarios as
appropriate. For debt instruments in the Treasury portfolio, external rating agency credit grades are
used. The PDs associated with each grade are determined based on realized default rates as
published by the rating agency.

The Bank's Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Bank's risk
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in
relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal
Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures. 

The Bank's Board of Supervisors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank's
risk management framework. The Board of Supervisors has established the Bank's Asset and Liability
Committee (ALCO), which is responsible for developing and monitoring Bank's risk management policies.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counter party to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank's loans and
advances to customers. For risk management reporting purposes, the Bank considers and
consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure.
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Exposure at default

Loss given default

Significant increase in credit risk

Measuring ECL

PD, EAD and LGD are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure
has not prepaid or defaulted in earlier year) on annual basis. This effectively calculates an ECL for
each future year, which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount
rate used in ECL computation is the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments
subject to the impairment calculation, addressing both the client’s ability to increase its exposure
while approaching default and potential early repayments too. 

The EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies by product type. For
amortizing products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed
by the borrower over the 12 months and lifetime basis. This is also adjusted for any overpayments
made by the borrower. For revolving products, the EAD is predicted by taking current drawn balance
and adding a credit conversion factor which allows for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit
by the time of default.

To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the Bank assesses the possible default events within 12
months for the calculation of the 12mECL. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI financial assets, the
exposure at default is considered for events over the lifetime of the instruments.

Bank calculates LGD rates and these LGD rates take into account the EAD for historical pool of non-
performing loans in comparison to the amount recovered or realised against such loans. In
determining LGDs, the Bank considers all eligible collateral provided the collateral can be legally
enforced. Due to the complexities involved in the Afghanistan regarding collateral realization and lack
of historical experienceto demonstrate recoveries through realization of collaterals, the Bank restricts
the expected recoveries (to be considered in LGD computations) based on its historical recovery experiences. 

The Bank continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an
instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Bank assesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Bank has established a
policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a financial
instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. Significant increase in
credit risk is measured by comparing the risk of default estimated at origination with the risk of
default at reporting date. The Bank also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a
significant increase in credit risk for an asset, such as moving a customer / facility to the watch list, or 
the account becoming forborne. 

Estimated historical realized default rates are adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate
forward looking information and the IFRS 9 Stage classification of the exposure. This is repeated for
each economic scenarios as appropriate. For debt securities in the Treasury portfolio, external rating
agency credit grades are used. The PDs associated with each grade are determined based on realized
default rates as published by the rating agency.
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Forward looking economic information is also included in determining the 12 month and lifetime ECL.
The Group has performed historical analysis and identified key economic variables impacting credit
risk and ECL for each portfolio. These economic variables and their associated impact on PD, EAD
and LGD vary by financial instrument. Expert judgement has also been applied in this process.
Forecast of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are obtained from external
sources on a quarterly basis.

Management of credit risk

Regular audits of business units and Bank's credit processes are undertaken by Internal Audit.

Credit quality analysis

In addition to the base economic scenario, the management also estimate other possible scenarios
along with scenarios weighting. The scenario weighting are determined by an expert credit
judgement. As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of the occurrence are
subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be
significantly different to those projected. The Group considers these estimates of the possible
outcomes. The Group has used base, upside and downside scenarios for its ECL estimation.

The Bank manages credit risk by limiting and controlling concentrations of credit risk wherever they
are identified – in particular, to individual counterparties and groups. The Bank structures the levels of
credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower
or counterparty. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more
frequent review, when considered necessary. Exposure to credit risk is also managed through
analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment
obligations at the time of loan appraisal for initial and subsequent loans.

The table below set out information about the credit quality of the Bank's loans and advances to
customers and the allowance for impairment/loss held by the Bank against those assets. The
maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of other financial assets and guarantees are equivalent to
their carrying amounts as disclosed in the respective notes. 
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31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
Maximum exposure to credit risk
Carrying amount 8 5,868,698    5,191,284

At amortised cost
Standard 6,087,102    5,403,315     Watch-list 28,915

          
24,261

         Substandard 20,852
          

25,384
         Doubtful 65,278

          
21,661

Loss 86,549

          

-
Rescheduled 7,698

            

18,431
Total gross amount 6,296,394

    

5,493,052
Allowance for impairment (individual and collective) (427,696)

      

(301,768)
Net carrying amount 5,868,698

    

5,191,284

Loans with renegotiated terms
Gross carrying amount 7,698

            

18,431
Impaired amount 7,698

            

18,431
Allowance for impairment (7,698)

           

(18,431)
Net carrying amount -

                

-

Neither past due nor impaired
Standard (low fair risk) 6,045,116

     

5,105,879
6,045,116

     

5,105,879

Individually impaired
Watch-list 28,915

          

24,261
Substandard 20,852

          

25,384
Doubtful 65,278 21,661
Loss and rescheduled 94,247 18,431

209,292 89,737

Allowance for impairment
Specific 133,546 36,819
General 294,150 264,949
Total allowance for impairment 427,696 301,768

------ (Afn in '000) ------
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Impaired loans and advances

See accounting policy - note 5.6.6.

The Bank regards a loan and advance as impaired in the following circumstances:

Loans and advances that are past due but not impaired

Balances with other banks

Collateral held and other credit enhancements

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Type of credit exposure
Loans and advances to customers
Microfinance loans 73.90

              

79.23

               

Microfinance loans 4.32

                

3.69

                

Microfinance loans - Group loans -

                  

-

                  

Over draft 3.98

                

2.37

                 

Loans to small and medium 
size enterprises (SME) 17.79 14.71

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

A loan that has been renegotiated due to deterioration in the borrower's condition is usually
considered to be impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash
flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicator of impairment. 

Loans and advances 'past due but not impaired' are those for which contractual interest or principal
payments are past due but the Bank believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the
level of security or collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amount owed to the Bank. 

The Bank holds balances with central bank and other financial institutions amounting to
Afn.4,252,994 thousands at 31 December 2018 (2017: Afn.5,471,893 thousands). 

The Bank holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures. The
table below sets out the principal types of collateral held against different types of financial assets.

Percentage of exposure that 
is subject to collateral 

requirements
Principal type of collateral 

held

- There is objective evidence that a loss event has occurred since initial recognition and the loss
event has an impact on future estimated cash flows from the asset.

- A loan is overdue for 30 days or more.

No financial assets and financial liabilities have been set off during the year (2017: none).

Personal guarantee
Property

None
Property

Property
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30.1.2 Concentration of credit risk

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and geographic location.

Geographic sector

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents Placements

Loans and 
advances to 
customers

Other 
assets

Total (on-
balance 
sheet)

Contingencies
and 

commitments Total

31 December 2018

Afghanistan 24

                 

-

                

5,868,698

    

324,169

    

6,192,891 19,150 6,212,041
United Kingdom 226,931

       

-

                

-

                

390

            

227,321 - 227,321
Belgium 336,986

       

148,936

       

-

                

1,853

         

487,775 - 487,775
Kenya 1,061,985

    

-

                

-

                

1,388

        

1,063,373 - 1,063,373
Turkey 17,668

         

245,744

      

-

                

1,907

        

265,319 - 265,319
Spain 1,069,543 - - 249 1,069,792 - 1,069,792

2,713,137 394,680 5,868,698 329,956 9,306,471 19,150 9,325,621

31 December 2017

Afghanistan 22,808 - 5,191,284 288,406 5,502,498 66,757 5,569,255
United Kingdom 413,780 - - 229 414,009 - 414,009
Belgium 462,926 299,991 - 1,129 764,046 - 764,046
Kenya 1,040,721 - - 1,280 1,042,001 - 1,042,001
Turkey 962,130 - - 2,090 964,220 - 964,220
Spain 318,076 - - - 318,076 - 318,076

3,220,441 299,991 5,191,284 293,134 9,004,850 66,757 9,071,607

--------------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) ---------------------------------------------------

The following table breaks down the Bank's main credit exposure at their carrying amount, as categorised by geographical
region as of 31 December 2018. For this table, the Bank has allocated exposures to the regions based on the country of 
domicile of counterparties.
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Industry sector

Note
31 December 2018

Cash and cash equivalents 6 2,713,137

    

-

                

-

           

- - 2,713,137
Placements 7 394,680

       

-

                

-

           

- - 394,680
Loans and advances to customers 8 -

                

1,490,752

    

83,388

     

3,485,887 808,671 5,868,698
Other assets 11 -

                

-

                

56,852

     

- 273,104 329,956
Contingencies and commitments 17 -

                

-

                

3,189

       

- 15,961 19,150
3,107,817

    

1,490,752

    

143,429

   

3,485,887 1,097,736 9,325,621

31 December 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 6 3,220,441

     

-

                

-

            

- - 3,220,441
Placements 7 299,991 - - - - 299,991
Loans and advances 8 - 1,460,811 82,306 2,145,747 1,502,420 5,191,284
Other assets 11 - - 33,070 - 260,064 293,134
Contingencies and commitments 17 - - 35,823 - 30,934 66,757

3,520,432 1,460,811 151,199 2,145,747 1,793,418 9,071,607

30.1.2.1 Impaired loans and advances

For details of impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, see note 8.

30.2 Liquidity risk

Others TotalBanks
---------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) ----------------------------------------

Liquidity risk' is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The following table breaks down the Bank's main credit exposure at their carrying amount, as categorised by industry sector as of 

31 December 2018. 

Agriculture TradeTelecom

30.2.1 Management of liquidity risk

- Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements.

- Managing the concentration and profile of deposit and debt maturities.

The Bank's Board of Supervisors sets the Bank's strategy for managing liquidity risk and delegates responsibility for
oversight of the implementation of this policy to ALCO. The key elements of the Bank's liquidity strategy are as follows:

- Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows by currency and business segment to ensure 
that requirements can be met, expressed through a maturity mismatch approach within different time bands on 
a maturity ladder.

- Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets and/or standby credit lines that can easily be liquidated/
  drawn as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections by currency and business 
segment for the next day, week and month respectively, using the maturity mismatch approach outlined above, as 
these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for these projections is an analysis of the 
contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets. The Bank also 
monitors unmatched medium-term assets, the level and type of un-drawn lending commitments. Sources of 
liquidity are regularly reviewed by the ALCO to maintain a wide diversification by currency, provider, product and 
term.
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30.2.2 Exposure to liquidity risk

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

At 31 December 58.67% 66.01%
Average for the period 60.35% 58.24%
Maximum for the period 79.61% 66.01%
Minimum for the period 54.72% 51.05%

30.2.3 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

The tables below set out the remaining contractual maturities of the Bank's financial liabilities.

Note

Gross 
nominal 
inflow/ 

(outflow)
Less than 1 

month 1-3 months
3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

More than 5 
years

Carrying 
amount

31 December 2018

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 12 (7,669,494)

   

(6,581,856) (505,813) (580,301) (1,524) - 7,669,494
Loans and borrowings 13 (2,586,799)

    

(97,500) (192,406) (303,131)   (1,403,024) (590,738) 2,586,799
Other liabilities 15 (144,457)

       

(65,647) (78,810) - - - 150,257
Contingencies and commitments 17 (19,150)

          

(14,899) (910) (1,817) (1,524) - 19,150
(10,419,900)

  

(6,759,902) (777,939) (885,249) (1,406,072) (590,738) 10,425,700
31 December 2017

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 12 (7,577,081)

     

(6,965,275) (515,344) (86,154) (10,197) (111) 7,577,081
Loans and borrowings 13 (2,791,586)

     

- (72,500) (379,732) (1,799,467) (539,887) 2,791,586
Other liabilities 15 (102,608)

        

- - (102,608) - - 102,608
Contingencies and commitments 17 (66,757)

          

(16,673) (6,105) (33,671) (10,197) (111) 66,757
(10,538,032) (6,981,948) (593,949) (602,165) (1,819,861) (540,109) 10,538,032

Type of financial instrument Basis on which amounts are compiled

Non-derivative financial liabilities Undiscounted cash flows, which include estimated interest payments

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
Financial assets
Loans and advances to customers 8 3,669,134 3,096,057

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings 13 1,993,762 2,339,354

Issued financial guarantee contracts and unrecognised loan 
commitments

Earliest possible contractual maturity. For issued financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of
the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in which the guarantee could be called.

------ (Afn in '000) ------

The table below sets out the carrying amounts of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities expected to be recovered or settled more than 12 months after the
reporting date.

--------------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) ---------------------------------------------------

The amounts in the table above have been compiled as follows:

The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to deposits from 
customers. For this purpose, ‘net liquid assets’ includes cash and cash equivalents less any deposits from banks, 
debt securities issued, other borrowings and commitments maturing within the next month. Details of the reported 
Bank ratio of net liquid assets to deposits from customers at the reporting date and during the reporting period were 
as follows:
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Note
Interest rates 

(p.a)
Less than 3 

months 3-6 months 6-12 months 1-5 years
More than 

5 years Total

31 December 2017

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 0.10% to 2.45% 3,109,959 - -

 

-

                

-

             

3,109,959

   

2,688,226

       

5,798,185

      

Placement 7 1.50% to 1.55% - 237,803 162,064 -

                

-

             

399,867

      

-

                  

399,867

         

Loans and advances to
customers 8 9.25% to 27% 223,233 471,441 1,400,553 3,087,391

     

8,666

        

5,191,284

   

-

                  

5,191,284

      

Other assets 11 - - - -

 

-

                

-

             

-

              

928,593

          

928,593

         

Total financial assets 3,333,192 709,244 1,562,617 3,087,391 8,666 8,701,110 3,616,819 12,317,929

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 12 0.5% to 4.5% 3,057,434 50,103 2,380 - - 3,109,917 4,467,164 7,577,081
Loans and borrowings 13 0.38% to 6.28% 72,500 177,232 202,500 1,799,467 539,887 2,791,586 - 2,791,586
Other liabilities 15 - - - - - - - 102,608 102,608
Total financial liabilities 3,129,934 227,335 204,880 1,799,467 539,887 5,901,503 4,569,772 10,471,275
Total interest rate gap 203,258 481,909 1,357,737 1,287,924 (531,221) 2,799,607 (952,953) 1,846,654

Interest bearing
 Not interest 

bearing 
 Carrying 
amount 

--------------------------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------

If the interest rate increases / (decreases) by 100 bps, the impact on profit or loss for the year would have been Afn.33,440 thousands (2017: Afn.27,996 thousands)
lower/higher respectively.

30.3 Market risk

30.3.1 Management of market risks

30.3.2 Exposure to interest rate risk

Note
Interest rates 

(p.a)
Less than 3 

months 3-6 months 6-12 months 1-5 years 5 years Total

31 December 2018

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 0.10% to 2.50% 3,090,578 - - - - 3,090,578 1,499,258 4,589,836
Placements 7 0.499% to 3.95% - 769,184 74,656 - - 843,840 - 843,840
Loans and advances to

customers 8 6.6% to 27% 207,598 434,042 1,557,924 3,664,140 4,994 5,868,698 - 5,868,698
Other assets 11 - - - - - - 936,074 936,074
Total financial assets 3,298,176 1,203,226 1,632,580 3,664,140 4,994 9,803,116 2,435,332 12,238,448

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 12 0.5% to 5% 3,293,993 71,367 506,979 - - 3,872,339 3,797,155 7,669,494
Loans and borrowings 13 0.34% to 6% 97,500 192,406 303,131 1,403,024 590,738 2,586,799 - 2,586,799
Other liabilities 15 - - - - - - 150,257 150,257
Total financial liabilities 3,391,493 263,773 810,110 1,403,024 590,738 6,459,138 3,947,412 10,406,550
Total interest rate gap (93,317) 939,453 822,470 2,261,116 (585,744) 3,343,978 (1,512,080) 1,831,898

To manage and control market risk a well defined limits structure is in place. These limits are reviewed, adjusted and approved periodically. Overall authority for market risk
is vested in Management Board of the Bank. The Management Board is responsiblefor the development of detailed risk management policies and day to day review of their
implementation.

The following table is a summary of the Bank's exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank's financial instruments at carrying amount, categorised by the earlierof
contractual reprising or maturity dates.

Interest bearing

 Not interest 
bearing 

 Carrying 
amount 

--------------------------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices - such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates - will affect the Bank's income or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The objective of the Bank's market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters to ensure the Bank's
solvency while optimising the return on risk.
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30.3.3 Exposure to currency risk

Note  AFN  USD EUR  Total   Others 
 Carrying 
amount 

31 December 2018

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 1,424,759

 

2,500,854

 

664,223 4,589,836 - 4,589,836
Placements 7 449,160

 

394,680

 

- 843,840 - 843,840
Loans and advances to customers 8 5,441,085

 

427,613

 

- 5,868,698 - 5,868,698
Other assets 11 501,820

       

367,092

       

67,162 936,074 - 936,074
Total financial assets 7,816,824 3,690,239 731,385   12,238,448 - 12,238,448

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 12 3,247,907 3,687,773 733,814 7,669,494 - 7,669,494
Loans and borrowings 13 2,586,799 - - 2,586,799 - 2,586,799
Other liabilities 15 126,206 24,017 34 150,257 - 150,257
Total financial liabilities 5,960,912 3,711,790 733,848   10,406,550 - 10,406,550

Net position 1,855,912 (21,551) (2,463) 1,831,898 - 1,831,898

 --------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) -----------------------------------------

The table below summarises the Bank's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk. Included in the table are the Bank's
financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.

 AFN  USD EUR  Total   Others 
 Carrying 
amount 

31 December 2017

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 1,978,266

     

3,098,544

 

721,375

     

5,798,185

 

-

                  

5,798,185

      

Placements 7 99,876

          

299,991

 

-

             

399,867

 

-

                  

399,867

         

Loans and advances to customers 8 4,805,960

 

385,324

         

-

             

5,191,284

 

-

                  

5,191,284

      

Other assets 11 457,861

        

402,907

        

67,825

       

928,593

      

-

 

928,593

         

Total financial assets 7,341,963

     

4,186,766

     

789,200

    

12,317,929

  

-

 

12,317,929

    

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 12 2,884,419

 

4,037,695

 

654,967

 

7,577,081

 

-

 

7,577,081

 

Loans and borrowings 13 2,791,586

 

-

 

-

 

2,791,586

 

-

 

2,791,586

 

Other liabilities 15 79,092

          

20,082

          

3,434

         

102,608

      

-

 

102,608

 

Total financial liabilities 5,755,097

     

4,057,777

      

658,401

    

10,471,275

 

-

 

10,471,275

 

Net position 1,586,866

    

128,989

 

130,799

     

1,846,654

   

-

 

1,846,654

 

Sensitivity analysis

Equity Profit or Equity Profit or loss

USD 2,155 2,155 (12,899) (12,899)

Euro 246 246 (13,080) (13,080)

30.4 Operational and business risk

2017

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to operate effectively,
operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The Bank cannot expect to
eliminate all operational risks, but it endeavours to manage these risks through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to
potential risks. Controls to manage these risks through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks. Controls
include effective segregation of duties, access, authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, such as
the use of internal audit.

A 10% weakening of the Afghani against the above currencies at 31 December 2018 would have had the equal but opposite effect on the
above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

 --------------------------------------------- (Afn in '000) -----------------------------------------

2018

A 10% strengthening of the Afghani, against the USD and Euro at 31 December 2018 would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or
loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Bank considered to be
reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

---------------------- (Afn in '000) ----------------------



Annual Report 2018 77

30.5 Capital management

Regulatory capital

The Bank's regulatory capital position at 31 December 2018 was as follows:

Regulatory Capital 

Tier 1 capital
Total equity capital        
Less: Intangible assets          
Less: Profit for the year

         Total tier 1 (core) capital 

       
Tier 2 (Supplementary) Capital:
General loss reserves on credits as per DAB's regulation, 

but restricted to 1.25% of total risk-weighted exposures

             

Add: Profit for the year

           

Total tier 2 (supplementary) capital 

          

Total Regulatory capital = Tier 1 + Tier 2

       

Risk-weighted assets

On-balance sheet

0% risk weight:
Cash in Afghani and fully-convertible foreign currencies

          

Direct claims on DAB

       

Total

       

0% risk-weight total (above total x 0%)

                   

20% risk weight:
Balances with banks operating in category A countries

              

Loans guaranteed by development institutions

                 

Total

             

20% risk-weight total (above total x 20%)

100% risk weight:
All other assets
Less: intangible assets
All other assets - net
100% risk-weight total (above total x 100%)

The Bank's regulator DAB sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank. The capital adequacy of
the Bank is assessed in two tiers as per regulations of the DAB. As of reporting date, DAB requires the Bank 
to maintain financial capital of not less than Afn.1 billion,the Bank complies with this requirement keeping
in view its share capital and share premium, and regulatory capital to risk-weighted asset ratio of not less
than 12 percent and a core (Tier 1) capital to risk-weighted asset ratio of not less than 6 percent.

- Tier 2 or supplementary capital, which includes other instruments which, to a varying degree, fall short of
the quality of Tier 1 capital, but nonetheless contribute to the overall strength of a bank as a going concern.

- Tier 1 or core capital, consisting of the highest quality capital elements that fully meet all the essential
characteristics of capital; to be 6% of risk weighted assets. 

- Regulatory capital is the sum of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital and Tier 2 capital cannot exceed the amount of
Tier 1 capital.

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

2,022,186        1,990,569
(100,672)          (118,021)

(31,617)
           
(231,138)

1,889,897

       
1,641,410

91,406

           

75,142
31,617

            

231,138
123,023

         

306,280

2,012,920 1,947,690

336,842

         

326,292
2,595,135

        

2,986,787
2,931,977

       

3,313,079
-

                  

-

2,055,872 2,489,011
1,192,252 797,759

3,248,124 3,286,770
649,625 657,354

6,762,781 5,469,377
(100,672) (118,021)

6,662,109 5,351,356
6,662,109 5,351,356

------ (Afn in '000) ------
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31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Off-balance sheet
0% risk weight:
Guarantees issued -

                   

-

                  

Undrawn loan and overdraft facilities 46,876

           

10,903

            

0% credit conversion factor total (risk-weighted total x 0%) -

                   

-

                  

0% risk-weight total (above total x 0%) - -

                  

20% risk weight:
Guarantees issued 19,150

            

66,757

            

20% credit conversion factor total (risk-weighted total x 20%) 3,830

               

13,351

             

20% risk-weight total (above total x 20%) 766

                  

2,670

              

100% risk weight:
Guarantees -

                   

-

                  

100% credit conversion factor total (risk-weighted total x 100%) -

                   

-

                  

100% risk-weight total (above total x 100%) -

                   

-

                  

Total risk-weighted assets 7,312,500
       

6,011,380

       

Tier 1 Capital Ratio
(Tier 1 capital as % of total 

risk-weighted assets) 25.8% 27%

Regulatory Capital Ratio
(Regulatory capital as % of total risk-weighted assets) 27.5% 32.4%

31. Corresponding figures

32. Date of authorisation for issue

33. General

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand.

Corresponding figures have been re-arranged and re-classified, where necessary, for more appropriate
presentation. 

------ (Afn in '000) ------

These financial statements were authorized for issue on _____________________ by the Board of Supervisors
of the Bank.

Acting Chief Financial Officer Acting Chief Executive Officer Chairman
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Our Branch Network



Annual Report 201880

Mazar-e-Sharif Region

Mazar 1 Branch
2nd Floor, Ibrahim Gran Market, Masood Road, East of 
Blue Masjid (Rawza-e-Sharif), Mazar-e-Sharif, Balkh
Tel: 0799481092 

Mazar 2 Branch
2nd Floor, Bilal Sahebzada Market, Darwaza-e-Balkh, 
Mazar-e-Sharif, Balkh
Tel: 0798363208

Aybak Branch
Haji Homayoun House, Next to Radio TV Station, 
Park-e- Wolayat Corner, Aybak, Samangan
Tel: 0798363206

Sheberghan Region

Maimana Branch
2nd Floor, Sayad Plaza, Maimana Municipality Park South, 
Zone 3, Maimana, Faryab
Tel: 0798400930

Sheberghan Branch
2nd Floor, Habib Roman Market, Bandar-e-Aqcha, 
Sheberghan, Jawzjan
Tel: 0798363209

Sar-e-Pul Branch
15th Street, Shahr-e-Naw, Next to Azizi Bank, Zone 1,
Sar-e-Pul City, Sar-e-Pul
Tel: 0799310798

  

Balkh Branch
Mosafer Khan Building, Bandar-e-Kleft,
Balkh District, Balkh
Tel: 0798363218

Khulm Branch
1st Floor, Municipality Hotel,
Infront of Khulm Hospital, Khulm District, Balkh
Tel: 0729907668

Sholgara Branch
Infront of New Clinic, Main Bazar Road,
Sholgara, Balkh
Tel: 0796292830

  

Andkhoy Branch
2nd Floor, Andkhoy Cinema Building, Street 1,
Brishna Street, Main Road of Andkhoy, Faryab
Tel: 0794544455

Aqcha Branch
Qasim Sons' Market, Rasta Jangal Iriq, Aqcha City,
Aqcha District, Jawzjan
Tel: 0798289697

Kabul Region

Head Office
Lane 8, Kolola Pushta Road, District 4, 
Kabul-Afghanistan.
Tel: 0202214127

Main Branch
Shahr-e-Naw, Ansari Square, Opposite Mar Mar Hotel, 
Zone 4, Kabul
Tel: 0799226606

Taimani Branch
1st Street, Taimani Project, 
Adjacent Kabul City Hospital, Kabul
Tel: 0798363200

Kot-e-Sangi Branch
3rd Floor, Shirzad Market, Silo Street, Near Kot-e-Sangi 
Bridge, Kabul
Tel: 0798363201

Mandawi Branch
4th Floor, Tota Khail Plaza, Jada-e-Maiwand, 
Cinema Pamir, Kabul
Tel: 0798363202

Khair Khana Branch
4th floor, Classic Building, 
First Part of Khair Khana Street, Kabul
Tel: 0798363203

Jalalabad Branch
2nd Floor, Haji Tora Baz Market, Opposite Hajj-o-Awqaf 
Directorate, Zone 1, Jalalabad City, Nangarhar 
Tel: 0729907697

Charikar Branch
3rd Floor, Gulghundi Hall, Kabul  to Parwan Main Road, 
Charikar City, Parwan
Tel: 0798363204

 Jabal Saraj Branch
2nd Floor, Haji Ghulam Sakhi Building, Main Street, 
Jabal Saraj District, Parwan
Tel: 0799179513

Dasht-e-Barchi Branch
2nd Floor, Ahmadyaan Brothers Market, 
Golayee Dawakhana, Dasht-e-Barchi, Kabul
Tel: 0795767468
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Badakhshan Region

Faizabad Branch
2nd and 3rd Floor, Bahruddin Building, Adjacent to 
Badakhshan Commercial Center Building, Shahr-e-Naw, 
Faizabad, Badakhshan
Tel: 0798363213

Kishim Branch
House No.3, First Street, Bandar-e-Tagaab, Kishim, 
Badakhshan
Tel: 0798363229

Baharak Branch
Mir Abdul Wahid House, Rasta-e-Wardooj, New City, 
Baharak, Badakhshan
Tel:  0797471394

 Jurm Branch 
Abdul Matin House, Guzar-e-Madrasa, Near Jurm City, 
Center of Jurm District, Badakhshan
Tel:  0792300306

 Ishkashim 
 Qazdah village, Infront of Border Police, Ishkashim 
District, Ishkashim, Badakhshan
Tel:  0799762472

  
Shughnan Branch
Naya-e-Senorg, De Murghan village, Shughnan District, 
Badakhshan
Tel: 0728637820

Darwaz Branch
Near Nusai Baazar, Nawabad Village, Darwaz, Badakhshan
Tel: 00992905990168

Zebak Branch
Mirza Mohammad House, Zebak Bazar, Zebak, Badakhshan
Tel: 0729210406

Kundoz Region

Kundoz Branch
4th Floor, Haji Qadir Market, Near Kunduz Square,
Rang Foroshi Street, Kundoz
Tel: 0798363211

Doshi Branch
Doshi Bazaar, Infront of Ahangaran Street, Doshi, Baghlan
Tel: 0798855406

Pul-e-Khomri Branch
2nd Floor, Zikerya Parwani Market, Pul-e-Khomri Square, 
Baghlan
Tel: 0798363205

Taloqan Branch
2nd Floor, Malik Shahan Market, Sarak-e-Hamam Hafiz Bay, 
Taloqan, Takhar
Tel: 0798363212

Dashti Qala Office
Block-e-Mamor Hassan, Aai Khanom Street,
Dashit e Qala District, Takhar
Tel:0798363212

Khoja Ghar Office
Rasta-e-Najari, Khoja Ghar City East, Takhar
Tel: 0798363212

      
Farkhar Office
South West of Chawk-e-Farkhar, Farkhar District, Takhar
Tel: 0798363212

Warsaj Office
Street of Dari Hawali, South of Khanaqa Town,
Warsaj District, Takhar
Tel: 0798363212

Bangi Office
Rastai Chaplaq Froshi, East of Afaqi Town,
Bangi District, Takhar
Tel: 0798363212

Imam Sahib Office
 2nd Floor, Sadaat Market, Near Aimaq Market,
Imam Sahib District, Kundoz
Tel: 0798363211

Ali Abad Office
Markaz Shahr, Mutasil-e-Sarai Zeghir Froshi, Opposite of Ali 
Abad Health Clinic, Ali Abad City, Kudoz
Tel: 0798363211
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Herat Region

Herat 1 Branch
Wolayat Street, Infront of Herat Hospital,
After Jada Mukhaberat, Zone 3, Herat
Tel: 0798363214

Herat 2 Branch
1st Floor, Nabizada Building, Northwest edge Zaman Jan, 
Main Square, Herat
Tel: 0798363215

Jabrail Office
Charda Metree, Istiqlal Street 19 Corner, Jabrail, Heart
Tel: 0798363214

Bamyan Region

Bamyan Branch
Mustafa Plaza, Bamyan Bazaar, First Part, Bamyan
Tel: 0798363219

Waras Branch
Bazaar Waras, Waras District Center, Waras, Bamyan
Tel: 0778551567

      
Panjab Branch
Dasht-e-Ghujur, Near AKF Office, Panjab, Bamyan
Tel: 0798896807

Yakawalang Branch
Bazar-e- Nayak, Yakawlang, Bamyan
Tel: 0795348021
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